
      
PLEASE VIEW THE LIVE STREAMED CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS ON THE CITY'S WEB SITE:PLEASE VIEW THE LIVE STREAMED CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS ON THE CITY'S WEB SITE:

City-Council-Live-StreamCity-Council-Live-Stream

CORTEZ CITY COUNCILCORTEZ CITY COUNCIL
REGULAR MEETINGREGULAR MEETING

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 11, 2022TUESDAY, OCTOBER 11, 2022
7:30 P.M.7:30 P.M.

      

1. CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE,  ROLL CALL,  APPROVAL OF AGENDA.   

 

2. CONSENT AGENDA

The listing under "Consent Agenda" is a group of items to be acted on with a single motion and vote.
This agenda is designed to expedite the handling of limited routine matters by City Council. Either the
public or a Councilmember may request that an item may be removed from the Consent Agenda at that
time, prior to Council's vote. The Mayor will ask if a citizen or Councilmember wishes to have any
specific item removed from the Consent Agenda for discussion.

  

 

a. Approval of the Council Worksession and Agenda Minutes for September 27, 2022.
 

b. Approval of the Expenditure List for October 11, 2022
 

c. Approval of a Retail Marijuana Cultivation Facility for THA Corporation, DBA The Herbal Alternative,
10194 Highway 49, Cortez.

 

d. Approval of a renewal Tavern Liquor License for Purple Sage Rib Co. & Saloon LLC, DBA Purple
Sage Rib Co., located at 2591 East Main Street, Cortez. 

 

e. Approval of a renewal Beer and Wine Liquor License for Jodi Jahrling, DBA Zu Gallery, located at 48
West Main Street, Cortez.

 

f. Approval of a Change in Premise application for Blondies Trophy Room LLC, DBA Blondies Trophy
Room, located at 45 East Main Street, Cortez.

 

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
There is no limit to the number of speakers, although public comments will be held to anThere is no limit to the number of speakers, although public comments will be held to an
overall time limit of 30 minutes.overall time limit of 30 minutes.
(Speakers have a time limit of three (3) minutes per person, may only speak once, and may not cede time to(Speakers have a time limit of three (3) minutes per person, may only speak once, and may not cede time to
another commenter.  P lease reference rules below .)another commenter.  P lease reference rules below .)

  

 

4. PRESENTATIONS   

 

a. The MCHS Girls and Boys Golf Team will be presented a donation contributed by City employees
during their Annual Golf Tournament.

 

b. Presentation regarding current City debt position and possible debt retirement.
 

http://www.cityofcortez.com/497 /City-Council-Live-Stream


      
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS   

 

a. Ordinance No. 1312, Series 2022
 

 Council will consider approving on second and final reading Ordinance No. 1312, Series 2022, an
ordinance authorizing and approving an amendment to a ground lease with Classic Air Medical for
construction of an aircraft hangar at the Cortez Municipal Airport.

 

Presenter: Presenter: Jeremy Patton, Airport Manager
 

6. UNFINISHED BUSINESS   

 

7. NEW BUSINESS   

 

a. Bid Award for 2022 Jury Room Addition
 

 Council will consider awarding the 2022 Jury Room Addition to WCA Construction LLC at the bid
amount of $181,250.00.

 

Presenter: Presenter: Rick Smith, General Services Director
 

b. Ordinance No. 1305, Series 2022
 

 Council will consider approving on first reading Ordinance No. 1305, Series 2022, an ordinance
amending the City of Cortez Land Use Code, Section 3.05, Food Truck/Mobile Vender, and set for
public hearing on October 25, 2022.

 

Presenter: Presenter: Contract City Planner Nancy Dosdall
 

c. Ordinance No. 1311, Series 2022
 

 Council will consider approving on first reading Ordinance No. 1311, Series 2022, an ordinance
amending the City of Cortez Land Use Code Section 2.02, Definitions, 3.06, 3.09, 3.10, and 3.14, to
create definitions and increase density in the zones for Affordable and Workforce Housing, and set for
public hearing on October 25, 2022.

 

Presenter: Presenter: Contract City Planner Nancy Dosdall
 

8. DRAFT RESOLUTION/ORDINANCES   

 

9. CITY ATTORNEY'S REPORT   

 

10. CITY MANAGER'S REPORT   

 

11. CITY COUNCIL COMMITTEE REPORTS   

 

a. Mayor's Report on Workshop   

 

b. Other Board Reports   

 

12. OTHER ITEMS OF BUSINESS   

 

a. Council will adjourn to Executive Session for discussion of a personnel matter under C.R.S. Section   



24-6-402(4)(f)(I) and not involving:  any specific employees who requested discussion of the matter in
open session; any member of this body or any elected official; the appointment of any person to fill an
office of this body or of an elected official; or personnel policies that do not require the discussion of
matters personal to particular employees.  Council will hold discussion on an employee matter.

 

13. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
There is no limit to the number of speakers and no overall time limit.There is no limit to the number of speakers and no overall time limit.
(Speakers have a time limit of three (3) minutes per person, may only speak once, and may not cede time to(Speakers have a time limit of three (3) minutes per person, may only speak once, and may not cede time to
another commenter.  P lease reference rules below .)another commenter.  P lease reference rules below .)

  

 

14. ADJOURNMENT   

 



      
 
PURSUANT TO RESOLUTION 11, SERIES 2022, PUBLIC COMMENT:
--Individuals may comment regarding items on the Council agenda or any other topic they wish to address the
City Council about, including items discussed in a previous Council Workshop.    Those wishing to comment
must register by completing an "Intent to Speak" card (located outside of the Council chambers).  Completed
cards will be collected at the start of the meeting and delivered to the Mayor, who will call each speaker to the
podium at the appropriate time.  Comments specific to agenda items scheduled for public hearings should be
reserved and delivered during the public hearing session.
--Courtesy, civility, and respect for others is expected.  All comments should be addressed directly to the
Council. Commenters who are called upon by the Mayor to speak are the only persons allowed to speak during
the allotted time.  Comments, or other distractions from the audience intended for commenters or others are not
permitted.  The Mayor, as the chairperson for the meeting, retains the discretion to deviate from the formats
described below.
--There are two general opportunities for citizens to address the Council:
For the first opportunity (which will occur toward the start of the meeting) there is no limit to the number of
speakers, although public comments will be held to an overall time limit of 30 minutes so City business may
proceed.  Speakers have a time limit of 3 minutes per person, may only speak once, and may not cede time to
other commenters.
For the second opportunity (which will occur toward the end of the meeting) there is no limit to the number of
speakers, and no overall time limit.  Speakers have a time limit of 3 minutes per person, may only speak once,
and may not cede time to other commenters.
--Other Opportunities to Participate
Citizens may also participate via email if addressed to councilcomments@cortezco.gov. Comments received by
3:00pm the day of a Council meeting will be delivered to Council the same day and entered into the meeting
minutes.  Citizens may also send letters to the Council by addressing them to "City Council" 123 Roger Smith
Ave., Cortez, CO 81321.  In-person deliveries are also accepted.

MOTION TO GO INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION:
--For a conference with the City attorney for the purpose of receiving legal advice on specific legal questions
under C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(b);
--For the purpose of determining positions relative to matters that may be subject to negotiations, developing
strategy for negotiations, and/or instructing negotiators under C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(e);
--To discuss the purchase, acquisition, lease, transfer, or sale of real, personal, or other property interest under
C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(a)
--For discussion of a personnel matter under C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(f) and not involving: any specific fie
employees who have requested discussion of the matter in open session: any member of this body or any elected
official: the appointment of any person to fill an office of this body or of an elected official: or personnel policies
that do not require the discussion of matters personal to particular employees
--For discussion of a matter required to be kept confidential by the following federal or state law, or regulation:
____ under C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(c)
--For discussion of specialized details of security arrangements or investigations under C.R.S. Section 24-6-
402(4)(d)
--For consideration of documents protected by the mandatory nondisclosure provisions of the Open Records Act
under C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(g)

AND THE FOLLOWING ADDITIONAL DETAILS ARE PROVIDED:
(a brief description must be included following the statute citation regarding why the executive session is being
held) 
 

 

mailto:councilcomments@cortezco.gov


CITY OF CORTEZ
123 ROGER SMITH AVENUE
CORTEZ, CO 81321

 

 
October 11, 2022 Agenda Item: 2. a.
 
MEMO TO:
 

Honorable Mayor and City Council
 

FROM:
 

Linda Smith, City Clerk

SUBJECT:
 

Approval of the Council Worksession and Agenda Minutes for September 27, 2022.
 

A ttachmentsA ttachments
Worksession Minutes for September 27, 2022
Agenda Minutes for September 27, 2022



  

 

CITY COUNCIL 

REGULAR WORKSHOP 

TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 27, 2022 

5:45 p.m. 

 

 

1.  The worksession was called to order at 5:45 p.m., at the City Council Chambers.  

Councilmembers present included Mayor Rachel Medina, Lydia DeHaven, Robert Dobry, Matt 

Keefauver, David Rainey, and Dennis Spruell.  Mayor Pro-tem Arlina Yazzie was absent.  Staff 

members present included Chief of Police Vern Knuckles, Director of Public Works Brian 

Peckins, Human Resources Director Matt Cashner, Library Director Isabella Sharpenstein, 

Director of General Services Rick Smith, Director of Finance Kelly Koskie, Director of 

Community and Economic Development Rachael Marchbanks, Contract City Planner Nancy 

Dosdall, IT Technician Kyle Kuhn, City Clerk Linda Smith, City Manager Drew Sanders, and 

City Attorney Patrick Coleman.  There were eight people present in the audience.  

 

2.   Director of Community and Economic Development Marchbanks spoke about the award 

given to the Cortez Historic Preservation Board from the National Association of Preservation 

Commissions.  She spoke about the work which has been accomplished by the all volunteer 

Cortez Historic Preservation Board including the receipt of ten grants used towards completion 

of an intensive inventory of historic properties in the community.  She stated that the first 

inventory was completed in 2011 of the Original Townsite of Cortez and the current grant is for 

17 properties in the auto/tourism field.  A picture was taken with board members and City 

Councilmembers holding the award.  Ms. Towle spoke about the current grant that includes 

inventory of the auto/tourism properties in the community and she shared pictures of various 

properties (hotels/motels/gas stations) that would most likely qualify for historic designation.  

She also spoke about several signs that have been designated historic already in the community.  

She commented that an owner of a historic property can contact the board to find out more 

information on how their property could be designated.  Mayor Medina thanked Ms. Towle and 

the Historic Preservation Board members for their hard work on gathering the information on the 

history of Cortez and sharing it with the community.      

 

3.   Human Resources Director Matt Cashner, Library Director Isabella Sharpenstein, City Clerk 

Linda Smith, Chief of Police Vernon Knuckles, Director of General Services Rick Smith, and 

Director of Finance Kelly Koskie made presentations to City Council on the highlights of each of 

their departments.  Councilmember DeHaven asked that some of the great accomplishments of 

the City (such as the solar program/budget) be included on the web site/social media so the 

citizens can see what their tax dollars are paying for.  

 

4.    General Council Discussion.  Discussion was held on the Council meeting that will be held 

on November 8, 2022, which is Election night.  More discussion will be held on whether to move 

the meeting to another night/cancel the meeting/or other options. 

 

The regular worksession was adjourned at 6:55 p.m. 



 

 

                                                                         CITY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING 

TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 27, 2022 

 

 

1. The meeting was called to order in the City Council Chambers at 7:35 p.m., with the Pledge of 

Allegiance.  Roll Call was taken and the following Councilmembers were present:  Mayor Rachel 

Medina, Lydia DeHaven, Robert Dobry, Matthew Keefauver, David Rainey, and Dennis Spruell.  

Mayor Pro-tem Arlina Yazzie was absent.  Staff present included Chief of Police Vernon Knuckles, 

IT Technician Kyle Kuhn, Airport Manager Jeremy Patton, Director of Finance Kelly Koskie, 

Director of Parks and Recreation Creighton Wright, Director of General Services Rick Smith, 

Director of Public Works Brian Peckins, Contract City Planner Nancy Dosdall, Director of 

Community and Economic Development Rachael Marchbanks, City Clerk Linda Smith, City 

Manager Drew Sanders, and City Attorney Patrick Coleman.  There were fifteen people present in 

the audience.   

 

Councilmember Dobry moved that the agenda be approved as presented. Councilmember DeHaven 

seconded the motion and the vote was as follows: 

 

         DeHaven         Dobry           Keefauver        Medina          Rainey        Spruell         Yazzie           

             Yes                 Yes                  Yes                 Yes                Yes              Yes             absent 

 

2.    The Consent Agenda items acted upon by Council were as follows: 

 

a. Approval of the Minutes of the Worksession and Regular Council Meeting held on September 

13, 2022. 

 

b.  Approval of the Expenditure List for September 27, 2022. 

 

Councilmember Keefauver moved that the Consent Agenda be approved as presented.  

Councilmember Rainey seconded the motion, and the vote was as follows: 

 

         DeHaven         Dobry           Keefauver        Medina          Rainey        Spruell         Yazzie           

             Yes                 Yes                  Yes                 Yes                Yes              Yes             absent 

 

3.    CITIZEN PARTICIPATION  

 

Mayor Medina opened Citizen Participation. 

  

Susan Kemnitz, 511 South Cedar Street, thanked the City and the Finance Department for the good 

job on the budget noting that it is good to know the City is trying to watch the finances because the 

rest of the people are really tightening their belts.  She spoke about hearing that the Library is still 

trying to have the drag queen program and she commented that the program does not belong in the 

Library.   

 

The following citizens spoke about the skateboard park:  Daniel Fields, Anthony Saiz, Namicen 



CITY COUNCIL                    REGULAR MEETING               SEPTEMBER 27, 2022             PAGE 2 

   

 

 

Jackson, Nathaniel Temple, Chase, Dorion, and Chris.  Each of the speakers commented how the 

white paint that was recently painted on the skateboard park has made the park dangerous and that 

the paint is reflective in the sun and makes it hard to see.  Jordan Romes commented that the City 

should improve the skate park as it is used by a lot of people and is one of the free programs offered 

to kids in the community.  She stated that the white paint is very dangerous as it is bad for depth 

perception.  She commented that the skateboard community should be consulted on changes to the 

park as they are really valuable to the discussion and that the kids have a connection to the art that 

was in the skate park.  Mayor Medina thanked everyone for coming and asked if the contact 

numbers for the speakers could be collected so that they can be contacted for future discussion on 

the skate park.   Councilmember Keefauver stated that the speakers are the best advocates for the 

skate park and when the park is opened for artists to paint again, it is important that people paint 

things that are cool and not paint things that are inappropriate.   

 

4.    PRESENTATIONS – None. 

 

5.    PUBLIC HEARINGS  

 

a.  Ordinance No. 1310, Series 2022.  Contract City Planner Dosdall stated that Ordinance No. 

1310, Series 2022, is being presented on second reading and amends the City of Cortez Land Use 

Code Section 3.05, Use Regulations regarding child care facilities, large home based.  She 

commented that House Bill 21-1222 became effective on September 8, 2021, and requires local 

agencies to treat all licensed family child care homes the same as they would treat a single family 

dwelling.  She noted that the existing Land Use Code allows small, home based child care facilities 

as a permitted use in all zones (except O) that allow single family homes without additional 

regulation.  Currently large home based child care facilities (12 or less children) are allowed 

through the conditional use process which Contract City Planner Dosdall noted can take up to three 

months to complete.  Mayor Medina opened the public hearing; however, no one spoke and the 

hearing was closed. 

 

Councilmember DeHaven moved that Council approve on second reading Ordinance No. 1310, 

Series 2022, amending the City of Cortez Land Use Code Section 3.05 – Use Regulations regarding 

child care facilities, large home based.  Councilmember Dobry seconded the motion, and the vote 

was as follows: 

 

             DeHaven        Dobry           Keefauver        Medina          Rainey        Spruell         Yazzie           

                 Yes              Yes                  Yes                  Yes                Yes              Yes             absent 

 

6.    UNFINISHED BUSINESS – None. 

 

7.     NEW BUSINESS 

  

a. Resolution No. 27, Series 2022.  Contract City Planner Dosdall stated that Resolution No. 27, 

Series 2022, approves a minor subdivision of an amended plat of Tract A, Lot 2, per re-subdivision 

of Lot 2 Russell Subdivision as AKC Townhomes.  She stated that Candelaria Construction Inc., 

applicant, has submitted an application for a Minor Subdivision to divide a recently constructed tri-

plex into three separate ownerships for individual sale.  The tri-plex is located at 1408 North 



CITY COUNCIL                    REGULAR MEETING               SEPTEMBER 27, 2022             PAGE 3 

   

 

 

Mildred and zoned Residential Multi-Family (R-2).  She reviewed Land Use Code Section 6.11(a) 

regarding the regulations for a minor subdivision and noted that the existing structure meets all 

code/zoning requirements.  She stated that staff recommends approval through Resolution No. 27, 

Series 2022, with two conditions.   

 

Councilmember DeHaven moved that Council approve Resolution No. 27, Series 2022, approving a 

minor subdivision of an amended plat of Tract A, Lot 2, per Re-subdivision of Lot 2 Russell 

Subdivision as AKC Townhomes, with two conditions.  Councilmember Keefauver seconded the 

motion, and the vote was as follows: 

 

            DeHaven        Dobry           Keefauver        Medina          Rainey        Spruell         Yazzie           

                 Yes              Yes                  Yes                  Yes                Yes              Yes             absent 

 

b.  Resolution No. 28, Series 2022.  Contract City Planner Dosdall stated that Resolution No. 28, 

Series 2022, approves a minor subdivision (boundary adjustment) of two parcels located in the 

E/2E/2NW/4NW/4NE/4 of Section 26, Township 36 North, Range 16 West, N.M.P.M.  She stated 

that the Russell Cortez Rental Properties LLC, applicant, submitted an application for a Minor 

Subdivision to adjust the boundary between two adjacent properties located at 428 East Coronado 

Avenue and Empire Street.  The properties total 1.91 acres and are zoned Residential Multi-Family 

(R-2).  No comments were received from any agencies and the proposal meets the requirements of 

Land Use Code Section 6.11(a).  She stated that staff recommends approval through Resolution No. 

28, Series 2022, with two conditions.   

 

Councilmember DeHaven moved that Council approve Resolution No. 28, Series 2022, approving a 

minor subdivision (boundary adjustment) of two parcels located in the E/2E/2NW/4NW/4NE/4 of 

Section 26, Township 36 North, Range 16 West, N.M.P.M, with two conditions.  Councilmember 

Keefauver seconded the motion, and the vote was as follows: 

 

            DeHaven        Dobry           Keefauver        Medina          Rainey        Spruell         Yazzie           

                 Yes              Yes                  Yes                  Yes                Yes              Yes             absent 

 

c.  Ordinance No. 1303, Series 2022.  Contract City Planner Dosdall stated that Ordinance No. 

1303, Series 2022, amends the City of Cortez Land Use Code, Section 3.05, Use Regulations 

regarding dwelling, accessory unit (ADU’s).  She stated that the ordinance is being presented on 

first reading to City Council and noted that the Planning and Zoning Commission has been working 

on the ordinance for some time.  She spoke about the recommended code amendments for the 

accessory dwelling units (referred to as a mother-in-law apartment, alley home, garage flat, etc.) 

noting that they would be considered a subordinate to the principal unit or part of the house.  An 

ADU would have a separate entrance and includes a kitchen, sleeping area, bathroom, and living 

area.  Contract City Planner Dosdall commented that an ADU is not a duplex and cannot be sold 

separately and would always remain under one ownership.  She spoke about the benefits of ADU’s 

noting that they provide  affordable housing and housing for niche markets such as empty nesters, 

young people just starting out, care givers, and/or the disabled.  She reviewed statistics from the 

City of Durango on Accessory Apartments (as ADU’s are referenced to in their community) noting 

that the rent is affordable for today’s market.  She commented on concerns with ADU’s noting that 

there would be a loss of green space and possibly a loss of privacy for neighbors, as well as 



CITY COUNCIL                    REGULAR MEETING               SEPTEMBER 27, 2022             PAGE 4 

   

 

 

parking, noise and emergency access concerns.  Contract City Planner Dosdall reviewed the 

existing regulations from the Cortez Land Use Code Section 3.05 (22) noting that RE and R-1 

currently allow ADU’s as a conditional use.  Discussion was held on the restrictive nature of the 

current City regulations on ADU’s.  Contract City Planner Dosdall noted that the average home size 

in Cortez is not all that large and commented that Planning and Zoning Commission is 

recommending the removal of the 20% requirement for lot size.  She stated other recommended 

changes include the allowance of ADU’s in the R-2 and MH zones; however, ADU’s would only be 

allowed with an approved conditional use permit.  She commented that two parking spaces would 

be required but allowed to be tandem and the property owner would be required to live on the 

property (either in the ADU or the primary home).  She reviewed the comments that were received 

from public outreach on ADU’s. 

 

Discussion was held by Council on the recommendations with comment made that ADU’s should 

be allowed in any zone in the City that residential units are allowed, including NB and CBD 

district.  Discussion was also held on the parking requirements, short term or long term rental of the 

ADU’s, lot coverage, size of the ADU’s, amount of people allowed to live in an ADU, and if the 

ADU process should be through the conditional use permit or allowed as a use by right.  

Councilmember Keefauver asked if any one has communicated with the Cortez Sanitation District 

about the increase of use and the availability of sewer service.  Contract City Planner Dosdall stated 

that the ADU’s shouldn’t have much affect on the utility providers.  Council agreed that the 

verbiage for the ADU’s should be clear and easy to understand and that the ADU’s would offer 

different housing inventory in the community.  City Attorney Coleman spoke about the options that 

Council has regarding tabling, denying, and/or moving the ordinance forward.   He noted that it is 

helpful to have an ordinance that Council mostly agrees upon before the public makes comment and 

a final version is approved.  Council agreed that they do not want to rush the ordinance through and 

would like to allow Council to offer their input on the regulations before the ordinance is prepared 

for a public hearing. 

 

Councilmember Dobry moved that Council table Ordinance No. 1303, Series 2022, amending the 

City of Cortez Land Use Code, Section 3.-05, Use Regulations regarding dwelling, accessory unit 

(ADU), and that the regulations for ADU’s be reviewed by Council at the October 11, 2022, 

worksession.  Councilmember Rainey seconded the motion, and the vote was as follows: 

 

            DeHaven        Dobry           Keefauver        Medina          Rainey        Spruell         Yazzie           

                 Yes              Yes                  Yes                  Yes                Yes              Yes             absent 

 

d.  Appointment of Orly Lucero to the Board of Adjustment and Appeals and Rachel Weaver and 

Darren Uptain to the Cortez Historic Preservation Board.  City Clerk Smith stated that Council 

interviewed Ms. Weaver at the last Council worksession and Ms. Weaver is being recommended for 

the open position on the Cortez Historic Preservation Board.  Also, the Montezuma County Historic 

Society recommended that Darren Uptain be appointed to the Cortez Historic Preservation Board.  

Orly Lucero is being recommended for appointment to the Board of Adjustment and Appeals.  City 

Manager Sanders stated that staff recommends that the applicants be appointed following their 

background checks being completed.  Mayor Medina thanked the applicants for offering to serve on 

the various boards. 

 



CITY COUNCIL                    REGULAR MEETING               SEPTEMBER 27, 2022             PAGE 5 

   

 

 

Councilmember Dobry moved that Council appoint Orly Lucero to the Board of Adjustment and 

Appeals for a three year term and Rachel Weaver to the Cortez Historic Preservation Board for a 

three year term.  Also, as requested by the Montezuma County Historical Society, Darren Uptain be 

appointed as their representative on the Cortez Historic Preservation Board for a three year term, 

with the stipulation that their backgrounds checks are completed.  Councilmember Keefauver 

seconded the motion, and the vote was as follows: 

 

            DeHaven        Dobry           Keefauver        Medina          Rainey        Spruell         Yazzie           

                 Yes              Yes                  Yes                  Yes                Yes              Yes             absent 

 

e. 2022 Library HVAC Equipment Bid Results.  Director of General Services Smith stated that staff 

and ME&E, Mechanical Engineer Company for the project, has suggested that, to keep the 

replacement of the Cortez Public Library HVAC units moving forward, the City order the 

equipment for the project which could take up to eleven months to be delivered.  One bid was 

received from Trane Technologies at a bid price of $134,750.52.  Director of General Services 

Smith stated that the equipment will not be paid for until the equipment is shipped in 2023 and 

funding will come from the Capital Project Budget.  Discussion was held on why the City only 

received one bid.  Director of General Services Smith stated that the bid was received from Omni 

cooperative which the City is a member of.  In answer to a question from Councilmember Dobry, 

Director of General Services Smith stated that there are two different HVAC manufacturers (Trane 

and Carrier) and the local installers for HVAC systems sell both of the units so there should not be 

any issue on pre-ordering the units.    

 

Councilmember Keefauver moved that Council award the 2022 Library HVAC equipment bid to 

Trane Technologies at the bid amount of $134,750.52.  Councilmember DeHaven seconded the 

motion, and the vote was as follows: 

 

             DeHaven        Dobry           Keefauver        Medina          Rainey        Spruell         Yazzie           

                 Yes              Yes                  Yes                  Yes                Yes              Yes             absent 

 

f. 4 Corners Rifle and Pistol Club Heating System.  Director of General Services Smith stated that 

the 4 Corners Rifle and Pistol Club leases property from the City and would like to improve the 

heating system in the building that they lease.  He noted that the current heating system is 50 years 

old and Comfort Air has looked at the system and is proposing a new system that will meet the 

Club’s needs.  Roger Lawrence, representing the 4 Corners Rifle and Pistol Club, stated that the 

members continue to maintain and repair the building when needed and noted that the current 

heating system is inefficient and needs to be replaced.  He stated that the heating system 

replacement will be paid for by an NRA grant and members of the club.  He stated that a working 

party will be pressure washing and painting the building in October and it is hopeful the restrooms 

will be upgraded next year.  In answer to a question from Councilmember Dobry, City Attorney 

Coleman stated that the lease states that all improvements shall be completed by the 4 Corners Rifle 

and Pistol Club.  Mr. Lawrence stated that they keep the City informed on any maintenance items 

they complete in the building and receive the proper permits prior to any changes.   

 

Councilmember Spruell moved that Council give permission to the 4 Corners Rifle and Pistol Club 

to replace the heating system using the NRA grant and Club monies.   Councilmember Dobry 



CITY COUNCIL                    REGULAR MEETING               SEPTEMBER 27, 2022             PAGE 6 

   

 

 

seconded the motion, and the vote was as follows: 

 

             DeHaven        Dobry           Keefauver        Medina          Rainey        Spruell         Yazzie           

                 Yes              Yes                  Yes                  Yes                Yes              Yes             absent 

 

g. Lease Agreement with Denver Air Connection.  Airport Manager Patton stated that Denver Air 

Connection is beginning their transition to flying planes in and out of Cortez beginning Saturday, 

October 1, 2022.  He stated that City Attorney Coleman reviewed the previous agreement with 

Boutique Air and made appropriate changes to the new agreement with Denver Air Connection 

(owned by Key Lime Air Corporation) for use of the transition area of the terminal and the ramp 

area.  He stated that the appropriate rates have been incorporated into the Lease Agreement with the 

Airport fund receiving $6,742.32 in lease revenue and up to $5,353.92 in landing fees in 2022.  He 

stated that the agreement would be for a period of two years, beginning October 1, 2022 to 

September 30, 2024.  The 2023 rates would be based on CPI increases.  It was noted that Denver 

Air Connection participated in the ‘Fly In’ that was recently held at the Airport.      

 

Councilmember DeHaven moved that Council approve the Lease Agreement with Denver Air 

Connection for use of the terminal and movement areas as described in the Lease Agreement.  

Councilmember Spruell seconded the motion, and the vote was as follows: 

 

            DeHaven        Dobry           Keefauver        Medina          Rainey        Spruell         Yazzie           

                 Yes              Yes                  Yes                  Yes                Yes              Yes             absent 

 

h. Ordinance No. 1312, Series 2022.  Airport Manager Patton stated that Ordinance No. 1312, 

Series 2022, authorizes and approves an amendment to a ground lease with Classic Air Medical for 

construction of an aircraft hangar at the Cortez Municipal Airport.  He stated that Classic Air 

Medical signed a lease agreement under Ordinance No. 1301, Series 2022 on June 14, 2022, and 

since then the architectural firm has re-evaluated the area needed for a septic system and leech field 

to accommodate future crew quarters.  He stated that Classic Air has requested a new property line.  

Their facility has housed a medical crew for a fixed-wing air ambulance that will provide EMS and 

interfacility transfers.  Airport Manager Patton stated that the original site plan was going to have a 

septic system to the west of the structure and a parking area to the northwest.  In the new 

orientation, parking will be designed on the west face of the structure, with additional land to the 

south being added for a sufficient septic tank and leech field area.  Coincidentally enough, there is 

an existing drainage area to the south of Classic’s lot that makes it impractical to build another 

hangar within 25’ of Classic’s proposed hangar.  Airport Manager Patton stated that after review 

with both parties’ on-call engineering, it has been determined that the proposed leech area is the 

most practical location.  He stated that the new rate for the additional leased area will be applied 

beginning in January 2023 as the hangar construction will continue into the new year.  The fees for 

2023 will be determined by the CPI (Consumer Price Index) rates.  Discussion was held on when 

the new building would be in place which probably won’t happen until spring of 2023.      

 

Councilmember Keefauver moved that Council approve on first reading Ordinance No. 1312, 

Series 2022, authorizing and approving an amendment to a ground lease with Classic Air Medical 

for construction of an aircraft hangar at the Cortez Municipal Airport, and set for public hearing on 

October 11, 2022.  Councilmember Rainey seconded the motion, and the vote was as follows: 



CITY COUNCIL                    REGULAR MEETING               SEPTEMBER 27, 2022             PAGE 7 

   

 

 

             DeHaven        Dobry           Keefauver        Medina          Rainey        Spruell         Yazzie           

                 Yes              Yes                  Yes                  Yes                Yes              Yes             absent 

 

i.  Dolores River National Conservation Area and Special Management Area Letter of Support.  

City Manager Sanders stated that the Letter of Support for the Dolores River National Conservation 

Area and Special Management Area was prepared by staff on City letterhead.  Should Council 

approve the letter, it will be sent to Senator Bennett’s office 

 

Councilmember Dobry moved that Council approve a Letter of Support for the Dolores River 

National Conservation Area and Special Management Area and authorize the Mayor to sign the 

letter.  Councilmember Keefauver seconded the motion, and the vote was as follows: 

 

             DeHaven        Dobry           Keefauver        Medina          Rainey        Spruell         Yazzie           

                 Yes              Yes                  Yes                  Yes                Yes              Yes             absent 

 

  8.    DRAFT RESOLUTION/ORDINANCES – None. 

 

  9.   CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT  

 

a. Budget/CML Conference.  City Attorney Coleman apologized for missing the 2023 budget 

discussion held with City Council on Saturday, September 24, 2022.  He stated that he was in 

attendance at the CML Municipal Attorney Conference that was held in Grand Junction.  He noted 

that the conference allows for discussion with colleagues from around the State on what they are 

doing and ideas on how to handle a variety of issues.  He thanked Council for allowing him to 

attend.   

 

 10.   CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

 

a.   2023 Budget/Community Support Grant Deadline/Clean-Up Week.  City Manager Sanders 

stated that City Council and leadership staff met at an open meeting on Saturday, September 24, 

2022, to discuss the annual budget for fiscal year 2023.  He noted that the budget will be available 

in draft form on the City’s website under ClearGov and comments from the public will be received 

through October 11, 2022, prior to preparing the budget for first reading on October 25, 2022.  

Included in the proposed budget is the plan to retire City debt in 2023.  City Manager Sanders is 

working with the Finance Director to ensure that all the details are worked out in advance and the 

impacts will be fully understood.  He stated that the City Community Support Grant requests will 

be received through October 14, 2022, at 5:00 p.m. and the grant forms can be found on the City 

website.  He noted that the City’s clean-up week is this week through Friday.    

 

 11.   CITY COUNCIL COMMITTEE REPORTS   

 

a.   Mayor’s Report on Workshop.  Mayor Medina stated that during the worksession an award was 

given to the Cortez Historic Preservation Board from the National Association of Preservation 

Commissions.  The latest historic grant was reviewed and information was shared on historic 

properties in the City that have historic designation.  Presentations were given by Department 

Heads as follows:  Human Resources Director Matt Cashner, Library Director Isabella 



CITY COUNCIL                    REGULAR MEETING               SEPTEMBER 27, 2022             PAGE 8 

   

 

 

Sharpenstein, City Clerk Linda Smith, Chief of Police Vern Knuckles, Director of General Services 

Rick Smith, and Director of Finance Kelly Koskie.   

 

b.  Bridge Shelter Board.  Councilmember DeHaven met with the Bridge Shelter Board on 

September 14, 2022, and discussion was held on the opening of the shelter which is scheduled for 

October 16, 2022.  She stated that if anyone is interested in volunteering, there is always room. 

 

c.  Golf Advisory Board.  Councilmember Spruell stated that the next meeting is on September 26, 

2022, and a walk through of the course is planned.     

 

d. Parks, Recreation, and Forestry Advisory Board.  Councilmember Keefauver stated that the 

Parks, Recreation, and Forestry Advisory Board met on September 16, 2022, with discussion held 

on the budget priorities.  Employees of each divisions of the Parks and Recreation Department 

gave an overview of their latest happenings. 

   

d.  Mesa Verde Country Board Meeting.  Mayor Medina stated that discussion at the Mesa Verde 

Country Board Meeting included tourism impacts and future ideas for tourism attraction.  Also, the 

2023  Budget was discussed. 

 

e.  Indian Health Services/CML District Meeting/Comments on 2023 Budget.  Mayor Medina 

stated that Indian Health Services (IHS) has started a service in the community that includes a 

street medicine program.  Every Tuesday, IHS is in Cortez and helping people that are out on the 

streets or those that do not feel comfortable going into institutions.  Today the group was at  

Grace’s Kitchen.  Mayor Medina noted that tomorrow she and other Councilmembers and staff 

will be attending the CML District 9 meeting being held in Pagosa Springs.  She stated that 

Council met with staff on Saturday, September 24, 2022 to review the 2023 proposed budget 

which is being prepared for first reading on October 25, 2022.  Comments will continue to be 

received through ClearGov or citizens may email Council or City staff.     

 

12.   OTHER ITEMS OF BUSINESS – None. 

 

13.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION – None. 

 

Councilmember Dobry moved that the regular meeting be adjourned a 9:26 p.m.  Councilmember 

DeHaven seconded the motion, and the vote was as follows: 

 

             DeHaven        Dobry           Keefauver        Medina          Rainey        Spruell         Yazzie           

                 Yes                Yes                  Yes                 Yes                 Yes             Yes            absent 

 

 

  ________________________________  

                                                  Rachel B. Medina, Mayor 

      ATTEST: 

 

___________________________ 

      Linda L. Smith, City Clerk         



CITY OF CORTEZ
123 ROGER SMITH AVENUE
CORTEZ, CO 81321

 

 
October 11, 2022 Agenda Item: 2. b.
 
MEMO TO:
 

Honorable Mayor and City Council
 

FROM:
 

Sara Coffey, Finance Assistant/Deputy City Clerk

SUBJECT:
 

Approval of the Expenditure List for October 11, 2022
 

A ttachmentsA ttachments
Expenditure List



EXPENDITURE LIST FOR WEEK ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2022

Department Vendor Name Description Amount

Human Resources AT&T MOBILITY PHONE 55.34$            
AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES Dark Blue Classification Folders, 2 Divider, 2 Ex 323.00$          
STAPLES ADVANTAGE 831663 Scotch TP3854-20 Laminating Pouches 17.18$            

Total 395.52$          

City Manager INNOVATION MEDICAL PRE-EMPLOYMENT PHYSICAL - HOLLEMAN 115.00$          
Total 115.00$          

Finance GOVOS INC ONLNE PAYMENT PROCESSING AUG 2022 835.47$          
Total 835.47$          

Events LOVE ON A HANGER BEAUTIFICATION GRANT 89.07$            
IMAGENET CONSULTING LLC EQUIPMENT RENTAL 64.69$            

Total 153.76$          

Library GEYER INSTRUCTIONAL PRODUCTS 4 X 8 CORK ROLL 56.70$            
INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES BOOKS 16.14$            
INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES BOOKS 16.69$            
INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES BOOKS 16.69$            
INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES BOOKS 16.69$            
INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES BOOKS 16.70$            
INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES BOOKS 24.39$            
INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES BOOKS 106.19$          
INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES BOOKS 538.96$          
INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES BOOKS 539.76$          
INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES BOOKS 797.34$          
BLACKSTONE PUBLISHING AUDIO BOOKS 72.00$            
XEROX CORPORATION EQUIPMENT RENTAL 396.10$          

Total 2,614.35$       

Building Maint AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES Surkat Drain Cleaner 7pc Combo Cutter Head S 14.58$            
Total 14.58$            

City Hall Operations WAGNER ENTERPRISE, L.L.C. JANITORIAL SERVICES SEP 2022 2,300.00$       
ORKIN EXTERMINATING-BRANCH #884 Blanket PO - Pest control services 141.00$          
IMAGENET CONSULTING LLC EQUIPMENT RENTAL 172.87$          
XEROX CORPORATION EQUIPMENT RENTAL 124.76$          
XEROX CORPORATION EQUIPMENT RENTAL 328.74$          

Total 3,067.37$       

Welcome Center MESA VERDE COUNTRY V.I.B. Contracted Services for CO Welcome Center 20 2,501.00$       
MESA VERDE COUNTRY V.I.B. Contracted Services for CO Welcome Center 20 2,501.00$       
MESA VERDE COUNTRY V.I.B. Contracted Services for CO Welcome Center 20 2,501.00$       
STERICYCLE INC. HAZARDOUS WASTE SERVICE 36.47$            
CENTURYLINK PHONE SERVICE 84.40$            



EXPENDITURE LIST FOR WEEK ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2022

Department Vendor Name Description Amount

Total 7,623.87$       

Police Department AT&T MOBILITY PHONE 79.48$            
AXON ENTERPRISE Axon Core + Plan, Respond Device Plus, Redact  66,456.00$    
AXON ENTERPRISE Evidence.com 3,264.00$       
AXON ENTERPRISE Interview room 3,376.00$       
SIRCHIE BIO HAZARD LABELS 12.67$            
WAGNER ENTERPRISE, L.L.C. JANITORIAL SERVICES SEP 2022 1,499.58$       
CENTURYLINK PHONE SERVICE 58.75$            
CENTURYLINK PHONE SERVICE 78.38$            
CENTURYLINK PHONE SERVICE 127.66$          
PITNEY BOWES GLOBAL FINANCIAL SERV EQUIPMENT RENTAL 186.33$          
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 184.62$          
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 3,015.70$       
IMAGENET CONSULTING LLC EQUIPMENT RENTAL 109.47$          
KONICA MINOLTA BUSINESS SOLUTIONS Blanket PO for copiers 190.94$          
KONICA MINOLTA BUSINESS SOLUTIONS Blanket PO for copiers 356.72$          

Total 78,996.30$    

Animal Shelter FOUR CORNERS M.A.S.H., LLC SPAY 336.00$          
ATMOS ENERGY GAS SERVICE 49.04$            

Total 385.04$          

Public Works TNP-TEX/NM AD IN FARMINGTON DAILY TIMES 679.64$          
AT&T MOBILITY PHONE 229.23$          
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 9,815.02$       

Total 10,723.89$    

Golf Course Maint SOUTHWEST WEED CONTROL Clearsurf 90, price per pint 95.00$            
SOUTHWEST WEED CONTROL Hardball, price per pint 886.32$          
SOUTHWEST WEED CONTROL Herbicide application on irrigated Turfgrass, br   935.00$          
SOUTHWEST WEED CONTROL Confront, price per pint 1,980.00$       
AT&T MOBILITY PHONE 53.22$            
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 2,189.28$       
R & R PRODUCTS INC. R500593 JD 9009A Mulcher Blade 339.00$          

Total 6,477.82$       

Parks AT&T MOBILITY PHONE 118.55$          
CENTURYLINK PHONE SERVICE 65.93$            
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 169.25$          
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 1,477.93$       
INTERMOUNTAIN FARMERS ASSOC. POULTRY BEDDING 95.94$            
SLAVENS TRUE VALUE WATER 2.20$               
SLAVENS TRUE VALUE FASTENERS, LIQUID NAIL 10.83$            
SLAVENS TRUE VALUE BATTERIES 25.47$            



EXPENDITURE LIST FOR WEEK ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2022

Department Vendor Name Description Amount

SLAVENS TRUE VALUE GLOVES, OIL 28.43$            
SLAVENS TRUE VALUE STAIN 83.12$            
THE PLUMBING STORE COUPLING 3.69$               
THE PLUMBING STORE GALV NIPPLE 7.32$               
THE PLUMBING STORE THREAD SEALANT 8.05$               
AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES VACUUM BREAKER, BACKFLOW REPAIR KIT 2,093.23$       
FERGUSON WATERWORKS #1116 BACKFLOW PREVENTER 652.80$          

Total 4,842.74$       

Planning & Building SHORT-ELLIOTT-HENDRICKSON INC Blanket PO - Planning Services until End of the 9,197.50$       
AT&T MOBILITY PHONE 245.40$          

Total 9,442.90$       

Shop DIESEL TECHNOLOGY READ ENGINE CODE 60.00$            
FOUR CORNERS WELDING & GAS SUPPLY Hardsurface electrodes 1/8,27.45" 27.45$            
SENERGY PETROLEUM Dyed diesel for Parks 1,902.40$       
SENERGY PETROLEUM 86UL Gas for Service Center 6,343.16$       
SENERGY PETROLEUM Dyed diesel for Tanks 4&5 18,095.08$    
INNOVATION MEDICAL PRE-EMPLOYMENT PHYSICAL - SPARKS 115.00$          
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 85.64$            
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 3,465.32$       
AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES Pilot 31021 Gel Pens, Blue 13.48$            
XEROX CORPORATION Blanket PO- C8045 AltaLink Color Copier, s/n 8   440.59$          

Total 30,548.12$    

Technology CENTURYLINK PHONE SERVICE 71.66$            
ALPINE SECURITY & ELECTRONICS Installation - Animal Shelter 95.00$            
ALPINE SECURITY & ELECTRONICS DSC PG9WLSHW8 8 Zone to Power-G Converte    178.25$          
ALPINE SECURITY & ELECTRONICS DSC PG9WLSHW8 8 Zone to Power-G Converte    178.25$          
ALPINE SECURITY & ELECTRONICS QK9201-AK2P-840  Verizon LTE IQ 2Plus 2-1 Po     606.87$          
ALPINE SECURITY & ELECTRONICS IQP4017KIT PG IQ Panel 4 Power-G Kit 2 door/      606.87$          

Total 1,736.90$       

Streets B & B CONCRETE, LLC 2022 Concrete Cost Share Project PW-22-04-S 14,541.95$    
TRAUTNER GEOTECH Blanket PO - Lab/Field Testing - 2022 Concrete  98.00$            
TRAUTNER GEOTECH Blanket PO - Lab/Field Testing - 2022 Mildred R 634.00$          
TRAUTNER GEOTECH Blanket PO - Lab/Field Testing - 2022 Mildred R 687.25$          

Total 15,961.20$    

Equipment SOUTHWEST AGRICULTURE Kubota L6060HSRTC/LA1055/BH92 Tractor/Ba       66,173.07$    
Total 66,173.07$    

Airport INNOVATION MEDICAL PRE-EMPLOYMENT PHYSICAL - STENTO 115.00$          
LE PEW PORTA-JOHNS INC. FLY-IN RENTAL 720.00$          
SLAVENS TRUE VALUE CABLE, CLAMPS, FUSE 50.74$            



EXPENDITURE LIST FOR WEEK ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2022

Department Vendor Name Description Amount

Total 885.74$          

Dispatch INNOVATION MEDICAL PRE-EMPLOYMENT PHYSICAL - KELSO 115.00$          
INNOVATION MEDICAL PRE-EMPLOYMENT PHYSICAL - DOLLAR 115.00$          
SOUTHWEST COLORADO TV Electrical usage - Caviness Site 400.00$          

Total 630.00$          

Rec Center INNOVATION MEDICAL PRE-EMPLOYMENT PHYSICAL - POPE 115.00$          
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 9,686.17$       
ATMOS ENERGY GAS SERVICE 723.61$          
LEATHER WORK INTERIORS EQUIPMENT CUSHIONS 125.00$          
WESTERN PAPER DISTRIBUTORS CLEANER 134.75$          
SLAVENS TRUE VALUE PIPE 80.97$            

Total 10,865.50$    

Water GREEN ANALYTICAL LABS, INC. LAB TESTING SERVICES 121.50$          
MONTEZUMA WATER COMPANY WATER 057371 265.20$          
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 297.10$          
DPC INDUSTRIES, INC. Blanket PO - Citric acid 6,042.00$       
THATCHER CHEMICAL CO. Blanket PO - Liquid Alum AL2 5,624.54$       
NEW PIG CORPORATION SKM404 Sump Skimmer 3 x 18" Socks 171.88$          
CARAHSOFT TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION2981-27-USD WaterCAD Standalone 1000 Pipe   1,802.00$       
AT&T MOBILITY PHONE 106.69$          
HACH COMPANY LXV445.99.10112 TU5300sc Low Range Laser T   23,788.80$    

Total 38,219.71$    

Refuse INNOVATION MEDICAL PRE-EMPLOYMENT PHYSICAL - SUTHERLAND 115.00$          
BIG R/JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL WORK CLOTHES 199.96$          

Total 314.96$          

Total 291,023.81$  



EXPENDITURE LIST FOR WEEK ENDING OCTOBER 7, 2022

Department Vendor Name Description Amount

Municipal Court BUFFINGTON LAW, LLC LEGAL SERVICES - ASSISTANT CITY ATTORNEY 1,379.10$    
Total 1,379.10$    

City Clerk OPEN MEDIA FOUNDATION Open Media Project Training, Implementation,    3,000.00$    
ANDY BROCK 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
ANGELO MARTINEZ 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
JASON GIACCHINO 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
JASON GRAY 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
JOSEPH YEN 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
KOBY GUTTRIDGE 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
LINDA SMITH 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
LORI OLIVER 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
MARISSA HURST 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
ROGELIO MAYNARD 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
SHANE FLETCHER 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
STEPHON LOBATO 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
TAYLOR MARSELL 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
TYLER SMITH 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
VANCE CARVER 3Q 2022 BENCHMARKING 120.00$        
BRAND CENTRAL CLOTHING 292.00$        

Total 5,092.00$    

Library FARMERS TELECOMMUNICATIONS INC. PHONE 43.57$          
CITY OF CORTEZ FIBER 3,503.40$    
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 1,681.03$    
CORTEZ SANITATION DISTRICT SEWER 43.00$          
CITY OF CORTEZ REFUSE 135.60$        
CITY OF CORTEZ WATER 32.01$          
DRUG & ALCOHOL TESTING ASSOC EMPLOYEE DRUG TESTING 45.00$          
NCSI APPLICANT PROFILES 18.50$          

Total 5,502.11$    

City Hall Operations FARMERS TELECOMMUNICATIONS INC. PHONE 100.49$        
CITY OF CORTEZ FIBER 599.64$        
CORTEZ SANITATION DISTRICT SEWER 731.00$        
CITY OF CORTEZ REFUSE 192.95$        
CITY OF CORTEZ WATER 637.86$        
OFFICE DEPOT 455939 Bunn 20115 Coffee Filters 30.40$          
TUNA'S PLUMBING & HEATING LTD Materials/Labor - Remove and replace pressur        1,480.00$    

Total 3,772.34$    

Welcome Center ORKIN EXTERMINATING-BRANCH #884 PEST CONTROL 110.00$        
MONICA'S CLEANING SERVICE LLC JANITORIAL SERVICE - SEP 2022 1,530.00$    
FARMERS TELECOMMUNICATIONS INC. PHONE 43.57$          
CITY OF CORTEZ FIBER 806.76$        



EXPENDITURE LIST FOR WEEK ENDING OCTOBER 7, 2022

Department Vendor Name Description Amount

EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 502.28$        
CORTEZ SANITATION DISTRICT SEWER 43.00$          
CITY OF CORTEZ REFUSE 94.80$          
CITY OF CORTEZ WATER 28.63$          

Total 3,159.04$    

Police Department AT&T MOBILITY PHONE 132.09$        
AXIS HEALTH SYSTEM JAIL CONTRACCT 350.00$        
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 5.50$            
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 5.50$            
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 5.50$            
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 5.50$            
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 5.50$            
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 5.50$            
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 11.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 11.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 11.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY UNIFORM CLEANING 11.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY UNIFORM CLEANING 11.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 15.75$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 16.50$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 16.50$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 16.50$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 22.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 22.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 22.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 22.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 22.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 22.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY UNIFORM CLEANING 22.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 27.50$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 27.50$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 33.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 33.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY UNIFORM CLEANING 33.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY UNIFORM CLEANING 33.00$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY UNIFORM CLEANING 38.50$          
CRYSTAL BRITE LAUNDRY Blanket PO for uniform cleaning 55.00$          
GALL'S LLC Duty boot 127.00$        
GALL'S LLC Mens uniform pants 135.20$        
GALL'S LLC Shipping 2.04$            
GALL'S LLC Shipping 8.01$            
GALL'S LLC Universal swift sling 33.12$          
GALL'S LLC Nametags (3) 37.60$          
GALL'S LLC Accumold double mag pouch 46.23$          



EXPENDITURE LIST FOR WEEK ENDING OCTOBER 7, 2022

Department Vendor Name Description Amount

GALL'S LLC Bianchi cuff case 73.14$          
GALL'S LLC Tranzport hoods (5 pack) 202.40$        
MONTEZUMA COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTM VACCINATIONS 35.00$          
TRANSUNION RISK AND ALTERNATIVE PERSON SEARCH 75.00$          
LORI OLIVER REIMB PETTY CASH - A YOUNG EVIDENCE TO M 17.00$          
DRUG & ALCOHOL TESTING ASSOC EMPLOYEE DRUG TESTING 80.00$          
LORI OLIVER REIMB PETTY CASH - FOOD FOR JUVENILE TRAN 9.77$            
ALSCO (AMERICAN INDUSTRIAL) MATS 126.03$        
PITNEY BOWES PURCHASE POWER POSTAGE 417.98$        
CITY OF CORTEZ FIBER 1,136.52$    
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 196.66$        
CORTEZ SANITATION DISTRICT SEWER 55.00$          
CITY OF CORTEZ REFUSE 218.30$        
CITY OF CORTEZ WATER 48.91$          
OFFICE DEPOT 946034 Post-it 654-24 Sticky Notes 12.86$          
OFFICE DEPOT 597050 Scotch 810-6PK 3/4 inch Clear Tape 25.46$          
OFFICE DEPOT 790801 Pilot 31021 G2 Gel Pens, Blue, Dozen 26.88$          
OFFICE DEPOT 568419 OD 39944-6PK 2 inch Clear Carton Seal  27.14$          
OFFICE DEPOT 790761 Pilot 31020 G2 Gel Pens, Black, Dozen 107.52$        
IMAGENET CONSULTING LLC EQUIPMENT RENTAL 16.93$          

Total 4,367.54$    

Animal Shelter FOUR CORNERS M.A.S.H., LLC SPAY 144.00$        
FOUR CORNERS M.A.S.H., LLC SPAY, CASTRATION 204.00$        
CITY OF CORTEZ FIBER 650.20$        
CORTEZ SANITATION DISTRICT SEWER 71.00$          
CITY OF CORTEZ REFUSE 54.00$          
CITY OF CORTEZ WATER 62.43$          
NCSI APPLICANT PROFILES 18.50$          

Total 1,204.13$    

Public Works DOUGLAS ROTH Blanket PO - GIS Consulting Services 2,175.00$    
FOUR CORNERS MATERIALS HOT MIX MATERIAL 409.85$        
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 323.15$        
CUSTOM PRODUCTS CORPORATION DSQNPSH1C030 Sign face, NO THRU TRUCKS, 1   76.82$          
CUSTOM PRODUCTS CORPORATION Freight Estimate 123.90$        
CUSTOM PRODUCTS CORPORATION RPB412RF238 Jumbo 12 Round Cap for 2-3/8 P    314.50$        
CUSTOM PRODUCTS CORPORATION RPB412CF Jumbo 12 Cross Piece for Flat Blades 377.40$        

Total 3,800.62$    

Outdoor Pool FARMERS TELECOMMUNICATIONS INC. PHONE 49.22$          
CITY OF CORTEZ FIBER 323.80$        
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 1,314.19$    
CORTEZ SANITATION DISTRICT SEWER 119.00$        
CITY OF CORTEZ REFUSE 624.00$        



EXPENDITURE LIST FOR WEEK ENDING OCTOBER 7, 2022

Department Vendor Name Description Amount

CITY OF CORTEZ WATER 65.60$          
Total 2,495.81$    

Golf Pro ORKIN EXTERMINATING-BRANCH #884 Blanket PO - Pest control services Pro Shop 95.99$          
CORTEZ SANITATION DISTRICT SEWER 175.00$        
CITY OF CORTEZ REFUSE 192.95$        
CITY OF CORTEZ WATER 140.17$        

Total 604.11$        

Golf Course Maint CITY OF CORTEZ FIBER 563.80$        
CORTEZ SANITATION DISTRICT SEWER 55.00$          
CITY OF CORTEZ REFUSE 192.95$        
CITY OF CORTEZ WATER 35.39$          

Total 847.14$        

Parks CITY OF CORTEZ FIBER 386.68$        
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 499.39$        
CORTEZ SANITATION DISTRICT SEWER 433.00$        
CITY OF CORTEZ REFUSE 1,886.35$    
CITY OF CORTEZ WATER 3,504.26$    

Total 6,709.68$    

Planning & Building LARRY W IVERSON EXECUTIVE COACHING 675.00$        
OFFICE DEPOT HP CF411A Print Cartridge, Cyan 88.19$          
OFFICE DEPOT HP CF412A Print Cartridge, Yellow 92.61$          
OFFICE DEPOT HP CF413A Print Cartidge, Magenta 92.61$          
OFFICE DEPOT HP CF410A Print Cartridge, Black 143.40$        
PIONEER PRINTING BUSINESS CARDS 35.00$          
NCSI APPLICANT PROFILE 18.50$          

Total 1,145.31$    

Shop BRANTLEY DISTRIBUTING, LLC BG 328 Universal MGC w/Limited Slip 150.00$        
FOUR STATES TIRE CO. Blanket PO - Tire Repairs and Alignments 20.00$          
FOUR STATES TIRE CO. Blanket PO - Tire Repairs and Alignments 20.00$          
FOUR STATES TIRE CO. Blanket PO - Tire Repairs and Alignments 39.58$          
FOUR STATES TIRE CO. Blanket PO - Tire Repairs and Alignments 52.00$          
FOUR STATES TIRE CO. Blanket PO - Tire Repairs and Alignments 111.00$        
ALSCO (AMERICAN INDUSTRIAL) Blanket PO - Mechanics Shirts Laundry Service 17.14$          
AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES FVP DEF Pump F00332A30 184.99$        
ABLE TOWING OF CORTEZ AIR HOSE 16.94$          
AUTOZONE Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repairs/Supplies (47.48)$         
AUTOZONE Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repairs/Supplies 17.19$          
AUTOZONE Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repairs/Supplies 47.48$          
AUTOZONE Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repairs/Supplies 66.48$          
CORTEZ COPY & PRINT DECALS 12.10$          



EXPENDITURE LIST FOR WEEK ENDING OCTOBER 7, 2022

Department Vendor Name Description Amount

DIESEL TECHNOLOGY Diagnostic tests and filter replacement - Unit 7 348.64$        
KEESEE MOTORS BALANCE ON STATEMENT 10.74$          
PARTNERS IN PARTS, INC. Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repair (36.00)$         
PARTNERS IN PARTS, INC. Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repair 41.80$          
PARTNERS IN PARTS, INC. Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repair 108.41$        
PARTNERS IN PARTS, INC. Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repair 127.15$        
PARTNERS IN PARTS, INC. Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repair 139.48$        
PARTNERS IN PARTS, INC. Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repair 191.79$        
PARTNERS IN PARTS, INC. Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repair 191.79$        
PARTNERS IN PARTS, INC. Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repair 290.30$        
STOTZ EQUIPMENT Blanket PO - Parts/hoses for Fleet Repairs 6.40$            
STOTZ EQUIPMENT Blanket PO - Parts/hoses for Fleet Repairs 6.46$            
STOTZ EQUIPMENT Blanket PO - Parts/hoses for Fleet Repairs 21.35$          
STOTZ EQUIPMENT Blanket PO - Parts/hoses for Fleet Repairs 130.00$        
SUPERIOR AUTO Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repairs 7.90$            
SUPERIOR AUTO Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repairs 12.59$          
SUPERIOR AUTO Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repairs 14.07$          
SUPERIOR AUTO Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repairs 24.50$          
SUPERIOR AUTO Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repairs 24.50$          
SUPERIOR AUTO Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repairs 24.90$          
SUPERIOR AUTO Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repairs 33.79$          
SUPERIOR AUTO Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repairs 37.30$          
SUPERIOR AUTO Blanket PO - Parts for Fleet Repairs 56.17$          
SENERGY PETROLEUM 86UL Unlead Gas for Service Center 4,013.77$    
ALSCO (AMERICAN INDUSTRIAL) Blanket PO - Floor Mat Service - Service Center 98.31$          
ALSCO (AMERICAN INDUSTRIAL) Blanket PO - Floor Mat Service - Service Center 99.49$          
ALSCO (AMERICAN INDUSTRIAL) Blanket PO - Floor Mat Service - Service Center 101.70$        
ORKIN EXTERMINATING-BRANCH #884 Blanket PO - Pest control services 163.00$        
FARMERS TELECOMMUNICATIONS INC. PHONE 94.32$          
CITY OF CORTEZ FIBER 256.00$        
CORTEZ SANITATION DISTRICT SEWER 106.00$        
CITY OF CORTEZ REFUSE 312.00$        
CITY OF CORTEZ WATER 373.67$        
XEROX CORPORATION Blanket PO- B7035 WorkCenter s/n 5DA859596   341.32$        
AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES SmartSign EXIT" Sign 44.85$          

Total 8,525.88$    

Technology iT1 SOURCE LLC MA-PWR-CORD-US Power cord 17.11$          
iT1 SOURCE LLC MA-INJ-4 Meraki PoE Injector 93.11$          
iT1 SOURCE LLC LIC-ENT-3YR Meraki Enterprise Cloud Controlle  171.48$        
iT1 SOURCE LLC MR20-HW Meraki wireless access point - Quot  171.60$        
HIGH COUNTRY WORKPLACE TECHNOLOG Avaya J139 Wall mount kit 53.04$          
HIGH COUNTRY WORKPLACE TECHNOLOG Yealink Dect Handset 97.50$          
HIGH COUNTRY WORKPLACE TECHNOLOG Avaya J139 Wall mount kit 185.64$        
HIGH COUNTRY WORKPLACE TECHNOLOG Yealink Dect IP Phone W60P w/base 384.00$        



EXPENDITURE LIST FOR WEEK ENDING OCTOBER 7, 2022

Department Vendor Name Description Amount

FARMERS TELECOMMUNICATIONS INC. PHONE 511.60$        
AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES APC RBC23 UPS Replacement Battery Cartridge 177.78$        

Total 1,862.86$    

Streets SGM INC. Blanket PO - Engineering Services Traffic/Trans 1,239.00$    
Total 1,239.00$    

Airport CITY OF CORTEZ REFUSE 36.93$          
MONTEZUMA COUNTY WATER DIST. WATER M064 50.00$          
MONTEZUMA COUNTY WATER DIST. WATER M068 70.50$          
MICHAEL KINCADE FLY IN VOLUNTEER VOUCHERS 290.00$        

Total 447.43$        

Dispatch LANGUAGE LINE SERVICE INTERPRETATION SERVICES 42.46$          
FARMERS TELECOMMUNICATIONS INC. PHONE 106.24$        
STAPLES ADVANTAGE HP M479fdw Printer, W1A80#BGJ 518.50$        

Total 667.20$        

Rec Center DRUG & ALCOHOL TESTING ASSOC EMPLOYEE DRUG TESTING 90.00$          
NCSI APPLICANT PROFILES 55.50$          
FARMERS TELECOMMUNICATIONS INC. PHONE 45.62$          
CITY OF CORTEZ FIBER 599.64$        
CORTEZ SANITATION DISTRICT SEWER 523.00$        
CITY OF CORTEZ REFUSE 192.95$        
CITY OF CORTEZ WATER 207.05$        

Total 1,713.76$    

Water CENTURYLINK PHONE 58.75$          
CITY OF CORTEZ FIBER 556.00$        
EMPIRE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ELECTRIC SERVICE 61.89$          
CITY OF CORTEZ REFUSE 54.00$          
UTILITY NOTIFICATION CENTER Blanket PO - Utility Locator Notification Charge 126.10$        
DANA KEPNER COMPANY Ford F1000-3G-NL 3/4 Corp stops" 553.23$        
FERGUSON WATERWORKS #1116 PSISCF Proselect 3/4 SS Insert Stiffener CTS PE 169.00$        
CORE AND MAIN Neptune 13749-200 Antenna 330.66$        
SGM INC. Blanket PO - Inspection Services on Tank 3 377.00$        
SGM INC. Blanket PO - Inspection Services on Tank 3 4,411.25$    

Total 6,697.88$    

CCN Fund AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES Mighty-Max ML7-12 Batteries, 10/pkl, 12v 7ah 158.39$        
FIBER OPTIC SUPPLY AFL40101 One Click Cleaner - SC,ST,FC - APC/U 126.32$        
CITY OF CORTEZ FIBER 1,337.40$    
MAMMOTH NETWORKS Blanket PO - D1A, CRTZ2018-001R 2Gbps comm 1,695.00$    
VISIONARY COMMUNICATIONS, INC. Blanket PO - Tower rental, Business wireless in    1,914.80$    

Total 5,231.91$    



EXPENDITURE LIST FOR WEEK ENDING OCTOBER 7, 2022

Department Vendor Name Description Amount

Refuse ECOTRACK FLEET MANAGEMENT ROUTING SOLUTIONS 240.00$        
Total 240.00$        

Total 66,704.85$  



CITY OF CORTEZ
123 ROGER SMITH AVENUE
CORTEZ, CO 81321

 

 
October 11, 2022 Agenda Item: 2. c.
 
MEMO TO:
 

Honorable Mayor and City Council
 

FROM:
 

Linda Smith, City Clerk

SUBJECT:
 

Approval of a Retail Marijuana Cultivation Facility for THA Corporation, DBA The Herbal
Alternative, 10194 Highway 49, Cortez.
 

A ttachmentsA ttachments
Herbal Cultivation Renewal













CITY OF CORTEZ
123 ROGER SMITH AVENUE
CORTEZ, CO 81321

 

 
October 11, 2022 Agenda Item: 2. d.
 
MEMO TO:
 

Honorable Mayor and City Council
 

FROM:
 

Donna Murphy, Deputy City Clerk

SUBJECT:
 

Approval of a renewal Tavern Liquor License for Purple Sage Rib Co. & Saloon LLC, DBA
Purple Sage Rib Co., located at 2591 East Main Street, Cortez. 
 

A ttachmentsA ttachments
Renewal- Purple Sage



 

 

 

                                                                            

10/4/2022 

 

 

 
MEMO TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 

 

FROM:        Donna Murphy, Deputy City Clerk 

 

SUBJECT:  RENEWAL APPLICATION FOR A TAVERN LIQUOR LICENSE FROM 

PURPLE SAGE RIB CO & SALOON, LLC., DBA PURPLE SAGE RIB CO, 

LOCATED AT 2591 EAST MAIN STREET, CORTEZ 

 

 

 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

The renewal application referred to above was filed in the City Clerk’s office on September 26, 2022.  

The application appears to be complete and all fees were paid. 

 

ISSUES 

 

The fire inspection report shows no violation to the Fire Code. 

 

The police report shows no liquor violations were found over the past twelve months. 

 

The sales tax account is current. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Staff recommends approval of a Tavern Liquor License for Purple Sage Rib Co & Saloon, LLC., 

DBA Purple Sage Rib Co, located at 2591 East Main Street, Cortez. 



CITY OF CORTEZ
123 ROGER SMITH AVENUE
CORTEZ, CO 81321

 

 
October 11, 2022 Agenda Item: 2. e.
 
MEMO TO:
 

Honorable Mayor and City Council
 

FROM:
 

Donna Murphy, Deputy City Clerk

SUBJECT:
 

Approval of a renewal Beer and Wine Liquor License for Jodi Jahrling, DBA Zu Gallery, located at
48 West Main Street, Cortez.
 

A ttachmentsA ttachments
Renewal- Zu Gallery



 

 

 

                                                                            

10/5/2022 
 

 
MEMO TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 

 

FROM:        Donna Murphy, Deputy City Clerk 

 

SUBJECT:  RENEWAL APPLICATION FOR A BEER AND WINE LIQUOR LICENSE FROM 

JODI JAHRLING, DBA ZU GALLERY, LOCATED AT 48 WEST MAIN STREET, 

CORTEZ 

 

 

 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

The renewal application referred to above was filed in the City Clerk’s office on October 5, 2022.  

The application appears to be complete and all fees were paid. 

 

ISSUES 

 

The fire inspection report shows no violation to the Fire Code. 

 

The police report shows no liquor violations were found over the past twelve months. 

 

The sales tax account is current. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Staff recommends approval of a Beer and Wine Liquor License for Jodi Jahrling., DBA Zu Gallery, 

located at 48 West Main Street, Cortez. 



CITY OF CORTEZ
123 ROGER SMITH AVENUE
CORTEZ, CO 81321

 

 
October 11, 2022 Agenda Item: 2. f.
 
MEMO TO:
 

Honorable Mayor and City Council
 

FROM:
 

Donna Murphy, Deputy City Clerk

SUBJECT:
 

Approval of a Change in Premise application for Blondies Trophy Room LLC, DBA Blondies
Trophy Room, located at 45 East Main Street, Cortez.
 

A ttachmentsA ttachments
Change of Premise Memo
Blondies- Drawings



 

 

 

                                                                            

10/5/2022 
 

 
MEMO TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 

 

FROM:        Donna Murphy, Deputy City Clerk 

 

SUBJECT:  APPLICATION FOR A CHANGE IN PREMISES FROM BLONDIES TROPHY 

ROOM, LLC., DBA BLONDIES TROPHY ROOM, LOCATED AT 45 EAST. 

MAIN STREET, CORTEZ 

 

 

 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

A request for a Change of Premises has been received from Blondies Trophy Room LLC, DBA 

Blondies Trophy Room.  A drawing of the proposed change to the licensed premises is attached.  

The change would add additional space located at 37 East Main Street to the existing licensed 

premise. The applicant has worked with the Building Department to ensure all code is met and to 

standard.  The Building Inspector has no issues moving forward with the change of premise 

application.  The application appears to be in order and the fee to the Colorado Department of 

Revenue has been paid. 

 

 

ISSUES 

 

When a request is made for a change of premises, licensing authorities are to consider only the 

requirements of Regulation 47-302, subsections 44-3-302(1)(b), 44-3-202(2)(a)(I)(A), and  

44-3-202(2)(a)(I)(D), C.R.S., the main factor is the reasonable requirements of the neighborhood and 

the desires of the inhabitants.  If permission to change the licenses premises is denied, the licensing 

authority shall give notice in writing and shall state grounds upon which the application was 

denied.  The licensee shall be entitled to a hearing on the denial if a request in writing is made to the 

licensing authority within fifteen days after the date of notice. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Staff recommends approval of the Change of Premise Application for Blondies Trophy Room, LLC., 

DBA Blondies Trophy Room.  







CITY OF CORTEZ
123 ROGER SMITH AVENUE
CORTEZ, CO 81321

 

 
October 11, 2022 Agenda Item: 4. a.
 
MEMO TO:
 

Honorable Mayor and City Council
 

FROM:
 

Linda Smith, City Clerk

SUBJECT:
 

The MCHS Girls and Boys Golf Team will be presented a donation contributed by City employees
during their Annual Golf Tournament.
 



CITY OF CORTEZ
123 ROGER SMITH AVENUE
CORTEZ, CO 81321

 

 
October 11, 2022 Agenda Item: 4. b.
 
MEMO TO:
 

Honorable Mayor and City Council
 

FROM:
 

Drew Sanders, City Manager

SUBJECT:
 

Presentation regarding current City debt position and possible debt retirement.
 



CITY OF CORTEZ
123 ROGER SMITH AVENUE
CORTEZ, CO 81321

 

 
October 11, 2022 Agenda Item: 5. a.
 
MEMO TO:
 

Honorable Mayor and City Council
 

FROM:
 

Jeremy Patton, Airport Manager

SUBJECT:
 

Ordinance No. 1312, Series 2022
 
 

BA CK G RO U N DBA CK G RO U N D
see attached

RECO MMEN D A TIO NRECO MMEN D A TIO N
Council will consider approving on second and final reading Ordinance No. 1312, Series 2022, an ordinance
authorizing and approving an amendment to a ground lease with Classic Air Medical for construction of an
aircraft hangar at the Cortez Municipal Airport.

A ttachmentsA ttachments
Airport Memo
Ordinance No. 1312



 

 

Item No:     
Meeting Date: 11 October 2022 

 
 
 
TITLE: Council will consider a land lease agreement for hangar development 
 
SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT: Airport 
 
ATTACHMENTS: Land Lease Agreement, Ordinance 1312, Series 2022- Amendment, Septic Area 
change exhibit 
 

 

BACKGROUND 

Classic Air Medical signed a lease agreement under ordinance 1301, Series 2022 on 14 June, 2022. 

Since then the architectural firm has reevaluated the area needed for a septic system and leech field 

to accommodate future crew quarters. A new property line has been requested.  

 

The first reading for this ordinance took place at the 27 September 2022 Regular Meeting.  

 

DISCUSSION 

Classic Air Medical is preparing to build a hangar that will sit on airport property as described in the 

land lease agreement. This will house a medical crew for a fixed-wing air ambulance that will provide 

EMS and interfacility transfers. In conjunction with the air ambulance helicopter based at Southwest 

Memorial Hospital, this will make up one of Classic’s busiest bases of operations.  

 

The original site plan was going to have a septic system to the west of the structure and a parking 

area to the northwest. In the new orientation, parking will be designed on the west face of the 

structure, with additional land to the south being added for a sufficient septic tank and leech field 

area. Coincidentally enough, there is an existing drainage area to the south of Classic’s lot that 

makes it impractical to build another hangar within 25’ of Classic’s proposed hangar. After careful 

review with both parties’ on-call engineering, it has been determined that this leech area is the most 

practical location.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The current year lease rate of $0.39 per square foot has been calculated and prorated for the 

remainder of 2022. The new rate for the additional leased area will be applied beginning in January 

2023 as the hangar construction will continue into the new year. 2023 lease rate will increase 

according to the Consumer Price Index.  

 

Current lease rate: 15,800 s.f. @ $0.39/s.f.= $6,162.00  

New lease rate: 19,200 s.f. @ $0.39/s.f.= $7,488.00 

  

 

City of Cortez 

City Council 

Agenda Memorandum 



 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that City Council adopt, on second reading, an ordinance to amend the 40-

year land lease agreement with Classic Air Medical’s proposed fixed-wing hangar base. 

 

Prepared By:  Jeremy Patton, Airport Manager       

                                                                       

         City Manager 































CITY OF CORTEZ
123 ROGER SMITH AVENUE
CORTEZ, CO 81321

 

 
October 11, 2022 Agenda Item: 7. a.
 
MEMO TO:
 

Honorable Mayor and City Council
 

FROM:
 

Rick Smith, Director of General Services

SUBJECT:
 

Bid Award for 2022 Jury Room Addition
 
 

BA CK G RO U N DBA CK G RO U N D
Please see attached memo.

RECO MMEN D A TIO NRECO MMEN D A TIO N
Council will consider awarding the 2022 Jury Room Addition to WCA Construction LLC at the bid amount of
$181,250.00.

A ttachmentsA ttachments
2022 Jury Room Addition





CITY OF CORTEZ
123 ROGER SMITH AVENUE
CORTEZ, CO 81321

 

 
October 11, 2022 Agenda Item: 7. b.
 
MEMO TO:
 

Honorable Mayor and City Council
 

FROM:
 

Rachael Marchbanks, Director of Community/Economic Development

SUBJECT:
 

Ordinance No. 1305, Series 2022
 
 

BA CK G RO U N DBA CK G RO U N D
See Attached Information

RECO MMEN D A TIO NRECO MMEN D A TIO N
Council will consider approving on first reading Ordinance No. 1305, Series 2022, an ordinanceCouncil will consider approving on first reading Ordinance No. 1305, Series 2022, an ordinance
amending the City of Cortez Land Use Code, Section 3.05, Food Truck/Mobile Vender, and set foramending the City of Cortez Land Use Code, Section 3.05, Food Truck/Mobile Vender, and set for
public hearing on October 25, 2022.public hearing on October 25, 2022.

A ttachmentsA ttachments
Ordinance No. 1305
Food Truck Information



CITY COUNCIL 

ORDINANCE NO. 1305, SERIES 2022 

 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CITY OF CORTEZ LAND USE CODE, SECTION 

3.05 – USE REGULATIONS REGARDING MOBILE VENDORS.  

 

WHEREAS, uses identified Mobile Vendors in the City of Cortez Land Use Code (the 

“Code”), Section 3.05, are classified as Permitted Uses in all zone districts in the City of Cortez with 

the exception of the CBD, central business district zone; and 

 

 WHEREAS, mobile vendors have requested to operate in the CDB under special conditions 

such as at approved special events; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Code currently further restricts Mobile Vendors in the CBD under specific 

provisions in Section 3.05(11); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has held meetings with the general public, food truck advocates and CBD 

business owners; and 

 

 WHEREAS, at the September 6, 2022 Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, the Planning 

and Zoning Commission reviewed the revisions to the Code as described in this ordinance, and as 

evidenced by the adoption of P&Z Resolution No. 6, Series 2022; and 

 

 WHEREAS, based on the evidence and testimony presented at said meeting, the Planning and 

Zoning Commission recommends that the Schedule of Use Regulations, Cortez Land Use Code 

Section 3.05 be revised as set forth in this ordinance to allow Mobile Vendors as Conditional Uses in 

the CBD zone; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the authority and procedure for amending the City Land Use Code is set forth 

in the Cortez City Charter, and the Code. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CORTEZ CITY COUNCIL THAT 

THE CITY OF CORTEZ LAND USE CODE, SECTION 3.05, IS AMENDED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 3.05 – Schedule of Use Regulations is amended to classify a Mobile Vendor as a Conditional 

Uses in the CBD Zoning District. 

 

Section 3.05(b)(11) is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 

 

(11) Mobile vendors shall be allowed as a permitted use on public or private property in the CBD zone 

at approved temporary, special events such as Third Thursdays and the Farmers Market.  Mobile 

vendors may be  allowed in the central business district (CBD) outside of special events only after 

issuance of a conditional use permit with full consideration for impacts on adjacent businesses.  

Mobile Vendors in the CBD shall only be allowed in approved locations and never in public right of 

way of State or Public roads, unless closed for approved special events.  Mobile vendor food courts 

may be approved with a Conditional Use Permit that would allow the mobile vendor to remain for 

up to 90 days on private land in an approved location. Mobile vendors shall also be regulated as set 



forth in the Cortez City Code at Chapter 15, Article IX, Mobile Food Vendors Sections 15-66 thru 

15-68.8 and all other applicable Cortez City Code sections, now in effect or as may be amended 

from time to time with the exception that the Conditional Use Permit shall determine the time frame.   

 

   

REPEALER. All orders, bylaws, ordinances, and resolutions of the City, or parts thereof, 

inconsistent or in conflict with this Ordinance, are hereby repealed to the extent only of such 

inconsistency or conflict. 

 

SEVERABILITY. If any section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this Ordinance shall 

for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such 

section, paragraph, clause, or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this 

Ordinance, the intent being that the same are severable. 

 

RECORDING AND AUTHENTICATION. Upon adoption hereof, this Ordinance shall 

be recorded in a book kept for that purpose and shall be authenticated by the signatures of the 

Mayor and the City Clerk. 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall be effective upon publication after second 

reading and final passage. 

 

FIRST READING.  This ordinance shall be considered first  reading on the 11th day of 

October, 2022, at the hour of 7:30 p.m., in the City Council Chambers in City Hall, Cortez, 

Colorado, at which time this ordinance shall be read and the public hearing for the second or final 

reading of this ordinance shall be set. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING. This ordinance shall be considered for second or final reading on the 

25th day of October, 2022, at the hour of 7:30 p.m., in the City Council Chambers in City Hall, 

Cortez, Colorado, at which time and place all persons may appear and be heard concerning the 

same. 

 

 PASSED, ADOPTED AND APPROVED ON FIRST READING THIS 11TH  DAY OF 

OCTOBER, 2022. 

       CITY OF CORTEZ 

 

ATTEST: 

              

       RACHEL B MEDINA, MAYOR 

       

LINDA L. SMITH, CITY CLERK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 PASSED, ADOPTED AND APPROVED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING THIS 25TH  

DAY OF OCTOBER, 2022. 

 

 

 

       CITY OF CORTEZ 

 

ATTEST: 

              

       RACHEL B MEDINA, MAYOR 

       

LINDA L. SMITH, CITY CLERK 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

        

J. PATRICK COLEMAN, CITY ATTORNEY 















CITY OF CORTEZ
123 ROGER SMITH AVENUE
CORTEZ, CO 81321

 

 
October 11, 2022 Agenda Item: 7. c.
 
MEMO TO:
 

Honorable Mayor and City Council
 

FROM:
 

Rachael Marchbanks, Director of Community/Economic Development

SUBJECT:
 

Ordinance No. 1311, Series 2022
 
 

BA CK G RO U N DBA CK G RO U N D
See Attached Information.

RECO MMEN D A TIO NRECO MMEN D A TIO N
Council will consider approving on first reading Ordinance No. 1311, Series 2022, an ordinance amending the
City of Cortez Land Use Code Section 2.02, Definitions, 3.06, 3.09, 3.10, and 3.14, to create definitions and
increase density in the zones for Affordable and Workforce Housing, and set for public hearing on October 25,
2022.

A ttachmentsA ttachments
Ordinance No. 1311
P&Z Resolution 7, Series 2022, Affordable Housing



CITY COUNCIL 

ORDINANCE NO. 1311, SERIES 2022 

 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CITY OF CORTEZ LAND USE CODE, SECTIONS 

2.02, DEFINITIONS, 3.06 RESIDENTIAL AREA REGULATIONS, 3.09 R-2 RESIDENTIAL 

MULTI-FAMILY DISTRICT, 3.10 MH, RESIDENTIAL MANUFACTURED HOME 

DISTRICT, and 3.14 NB, NEIGHBORHOOD BUSINESS DISTRICT, TO CREATE 

DEFINITIONS FOR AFFORDABLE AND WORKFORSE HOUSING AND INCREASE 

DENSITY IN THE R-2, M-H AND NB ZONES FOR AFFORDABLE AND WORKFORCE 

HOUSING.  

 

WHEREAS, housing costs have been rising rapidly in the City of Cortez; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cortez wishes to promote housing for all residents; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Cortez Land Use Code (the “Code”) currently lacks a definition of affordable 

housing and workforces housing; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Code currently allows multi-family developments at a density of 3,000 sq. ft. 

per multi-family unit in the R-2, M-H and NB zones; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council desires to encourage more affordable and workforce housing 

projects by allowing an increased density for qualifying development; and 

 

 WHEREAS, at the September 6, 2022 Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, the Planning 

and Zoning Commission reviewed the revisions to the Code as described in this ordinance and as 

evidenced by the adoption of P&Z Resolution No. 7 , Series 2022; and 

 

 WHEREAS, based on the evidence and testimony presented at said meeting, the Planning and 

Zoning Commission recommends that Sections 2.02, 3.06, 3.09, 3.10 and 3.14 be amended as 

described in this ordinance: 

 

 WHEREAS, the authority and procedure for amending the City Land Use Code is set forth 

in the Cortez City Charter, and the Code. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CORTEZ CITY COUNCIL THAT 

THE CITY OF CORTEZ LAND USE CODE, SECTIONS 2.02, 3.06, 3.09, 3.10, AND 3.14, ARE 

AMENDED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 2.02 – Definitions is amended to add the following two definitions: 

 

“Affordable Housing”  means  housing that is affordable to a household with an income that is eighty 

(80) percent or lower than area median income of households of that size.  Housing developed or co-

developed by non-profit or governmental/quasi-governmental organizations whose mission or intent 

is to provide affordable and/or workforce housing will meet this definition.  Non-profits and 

governmental organizations that do not intend to hold the property for at least 20 years and for-profit 



developers will be required to provide assurances that the housing is and will remain affordable for at 

least 20 years.   

“Workforce Housing” means housing that is affordable to a household with an income of between 

eighty (80) percent and one hundred and forty (140) percent of the area median income for households 

of that size. Housing developed or co-developed by non-profit or governmental/quasi-governmental 

organizations whose mission or intent is to provide affordable and/or workforce housing will meet this 

definition.  Non-profits and governmental organizations that do not intend to hold the property for at 

least 20 years and for-profit developers will be required to provide assurances that the housing is and 

will remain affordable for at least 20 years.  

 

Section 3.09 - R-2, residential multi-family district, Subsection (f) is deleted in its entirety and 

replaced with the following: 

 

(f) Minimum Lot Area. The minimum lot area per dwelling unit in the R-2, residential multi-family 

district shall be as follows, subject to Section 3.06(c) of this chapter: 

(1) Six thousand (6,000) square feet per single-family dwelling unit; 

(2) Three thousand five hundred (3,500) square feet per duplex unit. 

(3) Three thousand (3,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit; and 

(4) Two thousand (2,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit for affordable and workforce 

housing.  Where affordable and workforce housing projects are mixed with market rate projects the 

density will be pro-rated based on the percent of affordable versus market units.  For example, a 

project proposing 10 affordable units and 10 market rate units would achieve an overall density of 

2,500 sq. ft. per unit.   

Section 3.10 M-H, residential manufactured home district, Subsection (f) is deleted in its entirety 

and replaced with the following: 

 

(f) Minimum Lot Area. The minimum lot area per dwelling unit in the M-H residential manufactured 

home district shall be as follows, subject to Section 3.06(c) of this chapter: 

(1) Six thousand (6,000) square feet per single-family and manufactured home dwelling unit; 

(2) Three thousand five hundred (3,500) square feet per duplex unit. 

(3) Three thousand (3,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit; and 

(4) Two thousand (2,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit for affordable and workforce 

housing.  Where affordable and workforce housing projects are mixed with market rate projects the 

density will be pro-rated based on the percent of affordable versus market units.  For example, a 

project proposing 10 affordable units and 10 market rate units would achieve an overall density of 

2,500 sq. ft. per unit. 

Section 3.14 N-B, neighborhood business district, Subsection (f) is deleted in its entirety and 

replaced with the following: 

https://library.municode.com/co/cortez/codes/land_use?nodeId=LAND_USE_CODE_CH3ZODIRE_3.06ARRE
https://library.municode.com/co/cortez/codes/land_use?nodeId=LAND_USE_CODE_CH3ZODIRE_3.06ARRE


 

(f) Minimum Lot Area. The minimum lot area per dwelling unit in the NB neighborhood business 

district shall be as follows, subject to Section 3.06(c) of this chapter: 

(1) Six thousand (6,000) square feet per single-family and manufactured home dwelling unit; 

(2) Three thousand five hundred (3,500) square feet per duplex unit. 

(3) Three thousand (3,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit; and 

(4) Two thousand (2,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit for affordable and workforce 

housing.  Where affordable and workforce housing projects are mixed with market rate projects the 

density will be pro-rated based on the percent of affordable versus market units.  For example, a 

project proposing 10 affordable units and 10 market rate units would achieve an overall density of 

2,500 sq. ft. per unit. 

   

REPEALER. All orders, bylaws, ordinances, and resolutions of the City, or parts thereof, 

inconsistent or in conflict with this Ordinance, are hereby repealed to the extent only of such 

inconsistency or conflict. 

 

SEVERABILITY. If any section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this Ordinance shall 

for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such 

section, paragraph, clause, or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this 

Ordinance, the intent being that the same are severable. 

 

RECORDING AND AUTHENTICATION. Upon adoption hereof, this Ordinance shall 

be recorded in a book kept for that purpose and shall be authenticated by the signatures of the 

Mayor and the City Clerk. 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall be effective upon publication after second 

reading and final passage. 

 

FIRST READING.  This ordinance shall be considered first  reading on the 11th day of 

October, 2022, at the hour of 7:30 p.m., in the City Council Chambers in City Hall, Cortez, 

Colorado, at which time this ordinance shall be read and the public hearing for the second or final 

reading of this ordinance shall be set. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING. This ordinance shall be considered for second or final reading on the 

25th day of October, 2022, at the hour of 7:30 p.m., in the City Council Chambers in City Hall, 

Cortez, Colorado, at which time and place all persons may appear and be heard concerning the 

same. 

 

 

 

 

 

https://library.municode.com/co/cortez/codes/land_use?nodeId=LAND_USE_CODE_CH3ZODIRE_3.06ARRE


 PASSED, ADOPTED AND APPROVED ON FIRST READING THIS 11th DAY OF 

OCTOBER, 2022. 

 

 

       CITY OF CORTEZ 

 

ATTEST: 

              

       RACHEL B MEDINA, MAYOR 

       

LINDA L. SMITH, CITY CLERK 

 

 

 

 PASSED, ADOPTED AND APPROVED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING THIS 25TH 

DAY OF OCTOBER, 2022. 

 

 

       CITY OF CORTEZ 

 

ATTEST: 

              

       RACHEL B MEDINA, MAYOR 

       

LINDA L. SMITH, CITY CLERK 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

        

J. PATRICK COLEMAN, CITY ATTORNEY 



MEMO 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

DATE: 

PLANNING AND ZONINGCOMMISSION 

NANCY DOSDALL, CITY PLANNING  

WORKSESSION:  Affordable Housing 

August 2, 2022 

BACKGROUND: 

Housing Solutions for the Southwest, Southwest Colorado Council of Governments has recently a 
Regional Housing Needs Assessment & Strategy.  The report is attached for your information.  The 
study includes comments such as: 

“Cortez and Montezuma County. Rising prices in the city and county are due to an increase in in-
commuters from La Plata County and the “zoom town” phenomenon. The housing authority in 
Montezuma county has an average of 45 people added to the wait-list each month, around half of them 
indicate being homeless. Fair Market Rents (FMR's) in the county have not kept up with the increases in 
the rental market, making finding a rental unit even harder in the tight market.” 

The report includes a number of recommendations, including: 

“Land use and zoning changes to facilitate affordable housing are new in many high-cost communities. 
These changes can include density bonuses for certain housing types and/or in exchange for a share of 
affordable units; by-right Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU's); and by right attached housing products 
(townhomes, duplexes/triplexes, mixed-use development). To ensure that these changes produce 
workforce housing, they must be coupled with affordability requirements, as well as public subsidies to 
lower construction costs, first rights of refusal for workforce, and down payment assistance for 
homeowners. Otherwise, such products will be unaffordable and/or built for seasonal and vacation use.” 

Planning staff was recently approached by an affordable housing provider requesting a density variance 
on a property in order to build affordable housing.  Generally, density variances are not supportable 
when variance criteria are applied.  Staff recommended that we consider implementing a density bonus 
system for affordable housing instead.   

See attached for the recommended revision.  While this minor code change will not solve the affordable 
housing issue in this community, it may help to some degree.   



New Definitions: 

Affordable housing.  To qualify as Affordable Housing, the housing must be affordable to a 
household with an income that is eighty (80) percent or lower than area median income of 
households of that size.  Housing developed or co-developed by non-profit or 
governmental/quasi-governmental organizations whose mission or intent is to provide 
affordable and/or workforce housing will meet this definition.  Non-profits and governmental 
organizations that do not intend to hold the property for at least 20 years and for-profit 
developers will be required to provide assurances that the housing is and will remain affordable 
for at least 20 years.   

Workforce Housing:  To qualify as Workforce Housing, the housing must be affordable to a 
household with an income of between eighty (80) percent and one hundred and forty (140) 
percent of the area median income for households of that size. Housing developed or co-
developed by non-profit or governmental/quasi-governmental organizations whose mission or 
intent is to provide affordable and/or workforce housing will meet this definition.  Non-profits 
and governmental organizations that do not intend to hold the property for at least 20 years 
and for-profit developers will be required to provide assurances that the housing is and will 
remain affordable for at least 20 years.  

3.09 R-2, residential multi-family district 

(f) Minimum Lot Area. The minimum lot area per dwelling unit in the R-2, residential multi-
family district shall be as follows, subject to Section 3.06(c) of this chapter:

(1) Six thousand (6,000) square feet per single-family dwelling unit;

(2) Three thousand five hundred (3,500) square feet per duplex unit.

(3) Three thousand (3,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit; and

(4) Two thousand (2,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit for affordable and
workforce housing.  Where affordable and workforce housing projects are mixed with market
rate projects the density will be pro-rated based on the percent of affordable versus market
units.  For example, a project proposing 10 affordable units and 10 market rate units would
achieve an overall density of 2,500 sq. ft. per unit.

3.09 M-H, Residential manufactured home district. 

(f) Minimum Lot Area. The minimum lot area per dwelling unit in the M-H residential
manufactured home district shall be as follows, subject to Section 3.06(c) of this chapter:

https://library.municode.com/co/cortez/codes/land_use?nodeId=LAND_USE_CODE_CH3ZODIRE_3.06ARRE
https://library.municode.com/co/cortez/codes/land_use?nodeId=LAND_USE_CODE_CH3ZODIRE_3.06ARRE


(1) Six thousand (6,000) square feet per single-family and manufactured home dwelling unit;

(2) Three thousand five hundred (3,500) square feet per duplex unit.

(3) Three thousand (3,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit; and

(4) Two thousand (2,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit for affordable and
workforce housing.  Where affordable and workforce housing projects are mixed with market
rate projects the density will be pro-rated based on the percent of affordable versus market
units.  For example, a project proposing 10 affordable units and 10 market rate units would
achieve an overall density of 2,500 sq. ft. per unit.

3.09  NB neighborhood business district. 

(f) Minimum Lot Area. The minimum lot area per dwelling unit in the NB neighborhood
business district shall be as follows, subject to Section 3.06(c) of this chapter:

(1) Six thousand (6,000) square feet per single-family and manufactured home dwelling unit;

(2) Three thousand five hundred (3,500) square feet per duplex unit.

(3) Three thousand (3,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit; and

(4) Two thousand (2,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit for affordable and
workforce housing.  Where affordable and workforce housing projects are mixed with market
rate projects the density will be pro-rated based on the percent of affordable versus market
units.  For example, a project proposing 10 affordable units and 10 market rate units would
achieve an overall density of 2,500 sq. ft. per unit.

https://library.municode.com/co/cortez/codes/land_use?nodeId=LAND_USE_CODE_CH3ZODIRE_3.06ARRE


Facility Lot Size Units Lot sqft per Unit
Brubaker 3.3 ac/144,000 sq ft 48 3,000
Calkins 3.7 ac/161,000 sq ft 42 3,800
Sleeping Ute Apts 8.7 ac/378,000 sq ft 62 6,000
Prairie Mesa Estates 2.1 ac/92,000 sq ft 31 3,000
Adobe Apts (S Ash@1st St) 0.5 ac/21,780 sq ft 11 2,000
Cedar Terrace (S Cedar St) 1.5 ac/66,000 sq ft 32 2,000
Cedar Oaks Condos 1.8 ac/80,000 sq ft 30 2,600



Er
tel

Cir

Co
un

ty
Ro

ad
25

SO
UT

H 
 

 C
HE

ST
NU

T  
 ST

RE
ET

MA
DI

SO
N

ST
RE

ET

JE
NN

ING
S

SEVENTH  STREET

THIRD    STREET

S. 
 M

ILD
RE

D
 R

OA
D

N.
 FI

LL
MO

RE
 S

T

(pr
ev.

 Ev
erg

ree
n S

tre
et)

ME
SA

 
 TR

AIL

DRIVEALAMEDA

ST
RE

ET

CA
TA

LP
A

AVENUE

AVENUE

COLFAX

AVENUE

DETROIT

DRIVE

APPLE ST
RE

ET

SP
RU

CE

DRIVE

VUVERDE

STREET

CEDAR

BAKER   AVE.

CH
ISH

OL
M 

 PL
AC

E

AVENUE

JARRETT

JUNIPER   PLACE

BAKER

JO
RD

AN
 PL

AC
E

DRIVE

DR
IVE

THIRTEENTH    STREET

SO
UT

H

TENTH    STREET

TWELFTH  STREET

ELEVENTH    STREET

ST
RE

ET
MA

RK
ET

ST
RE

ET
CH

ES
TN

UT
ST

RE
ET

CH
ES

TN
UT

MA
RK

ET

BE
EC

H

AS
H

EL
M

LIN
DE

N

MA
PL

E

ST
RE

ET

ST
RE

ET

ST
RE

ET

ST
RE

ET

ST
RE

ET

ST
RE

ET

ST
RE

ET

ST
RE

ET
MA

DI
SO

N

WA
SH

IN
GT

ON

EL
M

LIN
DE

N

MA
RK

ET

BE
EC

H

AS
H

WA
SH

IN
GT

ON
ST

RE
ET

ST
RE

ET

ST
RE

ET

MA
DI

SO
N

ST
RE

ET

ST
RE

ET

ST
RE

ET

CO
UN

TY
  

RO
AD

    
25

RO
AD

RIDGE    DRIVE

W.  DRISCOLL   STREET

RI
DG

E  
  D

RI
VE

W.  CARPENTER   STREET

EMPIRE    STREET

N.
 AU

ST
IN

ST
RE

ET

N.
 W

ED
GE

W
OO

D
ST

RE
ET

MACARTHUR AVENUE

CORONADO    AVENUE

DOWNEY    AVENUE

ARBECAM AVENUE

MONTEZUMA AVENUE

NORTH STREET

MAIN    STREET

MAIN STREET

N.
 PINON

DRIVE

FIRST STREET

SECOND STREET

THIRD STREET

FOURTH

FIFTH

SIXTH

STREET

STREET

STREET

SEVENTH STREET

PIN
E 

 
  S

TR
EE

T

CE
DA

R
ST

RE
ET

FIFTH    STREET

SIXTH   STREET

FOURTH  STREET

CANYON DRIVE

STRATTON    DRIVE

U.S.     HIGHWAY  
  491

BR
OA

DW
AY

BR
OA

DW
AY

U.S.   HIGHWAY    160
U.S.   HIGHWAY   160

FIRST STREET

SA
GE

  S
TR

EE
T

JU
NI

PE
R 

 ST
RE

ET

TA
MA

RA
CK

  
  S

T. 
(va

ca
ted

)

VE
AC

H 
    

 ST
RE

ET

CA
CT

US
  

  S
TR

EE
T

PARK   DRIVE

SO
UT

H 
 

  V
AL

LE
Y

RO
AD

FOURTH    STREET

THIRD   STREET

SECOND   STREET

3rd

ST
RE

ET

MAIN

N.
 

 B
EE

CH
 S

TR
EE

T

SA
GE

BR
US

H 
  C

IR
CL

E

CH
AM

BL
EE

ST

FRONTAGE

ST
AT

E 
 H

IG
HW

AY
 

 14
5

LA
TE

RA
L

CO
RT

EZ

CORONADO AVE.

East Rampart Street (unbuilt)

COTTON WOOD   STR EET

DR
. E

E.
 JO

HN
SO

N 
DR

IV
E

HOSPITAL   DRIVE

STREET

NO
RT

H 
 

  P
AR

K
ST

RE
ET

BIRCH

DRIVE

ASPEN

DRIVE

N.
 AD

AM
S

ST
RE

ET

MI
LD

RE
D

ED
ITH

ST
RE

ET

NORTH   STREET

E. MONTEZUMA

ARBECAM    AVE.

AVENUE

N.
 E

RI
N 

   S
T. 

(a 
po

rtio
n v

ac
ate

d)

NO
RT

H 
 

  S
LIG

O
ST

RE
ET

E.  MACARTHUR AVE.

E. CORONADO AVE.

RIVERA  STREET

E. DOWNEY  AVE.

N.
  

ER
IN

ST
RE

ET

E. DOWNEY   AVENUE

N.
 H

EN
RY

ST
RE

ET

N.
 TE

XA
S

N.
 C

OL
OR

AD
O

ST
RE

ET

ST
RE

ET

E. MACARTHUR AVENUE

E. CORONADO AVENUE

N 
.   

 K
AN

SA
S

ST
RE

ET

RO
AD

DO
LO

RE
S

27
RO

AD
CO

UN
TY

M A N C O S

DE
NN

Y  
  S

TR
EE

T

TRINITY
AVENUE

LA
KE

SID
E 

DR
IVE

NO
RT

H

NO
RT

H

NO
RT

H

NO
RT

H

NO
RT

H

NO
RT

H

NO
RT

H

NO
RT

H

WAGON    WHEEL    DRIVE

TWENTY  MULE  TEAM  DRIVE

JACKSON STREET

AL
MA

  
  A

VE
NU

E

CO
RN

ET
T

ST
RE

ET

WILLOW   STREET

E.  DRISCOLL  STREET

E.  CARPENTER     STREET

VE
LM

A  
  S

TR
EE

T

ANIMAS   STREET

COTTONWOOD
STREET

MELROSE STREET

ACOMA STREET

MESA  VERDE   STREET

MO
NT

EL
OR

ES
AV

EN
UE

TA
YL

OR
ST

RE
ET

ANIMAS    STREET

KNOLL    AVE

COTTONWOOD   STREET CO
CH

ITA
  

  D
RI

VE

MELROSE

CO
CH

ITA
  

  D
RI

VE

MESA     VERDE    STREET

ACOMA

STREET

NAVAJO    STREET

ED
ITH

ST
RE

ET

ALDRIDGE ROAD

GARRISON

DRIVE

N.
 E

DI
TH

ST
RE

ET MAY  LANE

BROOKSIDE

DRIVE

LIVESAY

DRIVE

CORTE
Z

LATERAL (City R
OW)

MAY LN

MAY

LANE

NORTH  

  SLIG
O

STREET

N.   
HENRY

STREET

EMPIRE STREET

HERMOSA   STREET

AR
BO

R
ST

RE
ET

RAMPART STREET

HERMOSA STREET

BA
LS

AM
ST

RE
ET

ST
RE

ET
CH

ER
RY

DO
LO

RE
S

State 
 Street 

 (Hwy 145)

RO
AD

LA  PLATA

STREET

LA PLATA PLACE

BA
RR

ET
T  

  S
TR

EE
T

APACHE   STREET

HELMS

PLACEBA
LS

AM
ST

RE
ET

LAWN   STREET

KNOLL    AVE.

RO
LL

IN
G

RO
AD

ST
RE

ET
CE

NT
ER

PELOTA DRIVE

PEAR  ST.

SH
AD

Y
LA

NE

PEACH  ST.

BR
OOKS

IDE

DR
IVE

A L A M O S A S T R E E T

N.
 H

AR
RI

SO
N 

  S
TR

EE
T

Amanda Lee Ln

NO
RT

H
HA

RR
IS

ON

SO
UT

H

SO
UT

H

SO
UT

H

SO
UT

H

SO
UT

H

SO
UT

H

SO
UT

H

SO
UT

H

SO
UT

H

LE
BA

NO
N

[N
am

e T
BD

]

Private Rd.

CO
UN

TY
    

  R
OA

D 
    

 26

COUNTY  ROAD  L

STREET

Ve
nte

r  
  S

t.  
    

   (
va

ca
ted

)

IN
DU

ST
RI

AL
 R

OA
D

W PROGRESS CIRCLE

BLUEBERRY HILL LOOP

INDUSTRIAL ROAD

TUCKER    LANE

TU
CK

ER
  C

OU
RT

HAWKINS    STREET

RO
AD

HA
RR

IS
ON

ST
RE

ET

ALAMOSA   STREET

NO
RT

H

SO
UT

H

SEVENTH    STREET

SE
QU

OI
A

ARBECAM      AVE

OA
K

ST
RE

ET

RO
GE

R 
 

  S
MI

TH
AV

E.

SO
UT

H 
 SL

IG
O 

 S
TR

EE
T

AV
E.

RO
AD

MI
LD

RE
D

S.
 PA

RK
 

  S
TR

EE
T

LANE

STREET

PA
RK

ST
RE

ET

RO
GE

R 
SM

ITH

DRIVE

GERALD'S    WAYLA
U 

 
  L

AN
E

BLUFFS  

  BLVD.

L - WAY

LOIS      LANE

PINON   PLACE

ROAD

ST
RE

ET

TE
XA

S  
  S

TR
EE

T

DRISCOLL

N.
 M

AR
KE

T 
  S

TR
EE

T

N.
 C

HE
ST

NU
T 

  S
TR

EE
T

Mesa     Verde   St.      (vacated)

Private Street

Private Street

BR
AN

DO
NS

  
  B

OU
LE

VA
RD

COCHITA      
DRIVE

CHESSIE  

  WAY

GRACIE  CT

BROOKE ST

WATERS  

  ROAD

LAUREN LA
NE

RHETT LANE

JASPER 

CORNER

(F O R M E R L Y

ANDREW

OURAY

S. MADISON ST.S. 
WA

SH
IN

GT
ON

 S
T.

CORRI COURT

NICHOLETTE WAY

JENNINGS  
  DRIVE

JEN
NINGS D

RIVE

JENNINGS DRIVE

Private Drive

GATEWAY   DRIVE

NORTH

KALEIGH

CIRCLE

CIRCLE

KALEIGH

SOUTH

30' Future Street ROW (see annexation plat)

40' Road Access ROW Easement b440 p102

Road Easement

Par
Dr

ive

Str
ee

t N
ot 

De
dic

ate
d

WY
OM

IN
G 

  S
T

60'

60'

ROW on Hartman Addition void because plat not recorded until Oct. 1978

Be
ec

h S
t R

OW
 Va

ca
ted

 be
tw

ee
n

1s
t a

nd
 2n

d S
t - 

Or
d 8

5 S
er 

19
21

60'

65'

90' 60'
80'

60
'

60'

50'
50'

50'
50'

50'

53'?

80'

80'

Possible ROW

80
'

Analysis - Vacant Properties in the R2, MH and NB zonesMap Printed August 2022

Legend
Vacant in R2, MH and NB Zones

Parcels  - 387 acres
EXEMPT - 56 acres
City Limits
Cortez Parks

0 1 20.5 Miles

NOTE: For this exercise P&Z is considering increasing the density in the R2, MH and NB zones from 1 unit/3000 sq. ft. to 1 unit/2000 sq ft for affordable multi-family projects



CITY OF CORTEZ 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

RESOLUTION NO.  7, SERIES 2022 

A Resolution Recommending Approval of Revisions to Section 2.02 Definitions and 3.06 
Residential Area Regulations, 3.09 R-2 residential multi-family district, 3.10 MH, residential 

manufactured home district, and 3.13 NB, neighborhood business district to create definitions for 
Affordable and Workforce housing and increase density in the R-2, M-H and NB zones for 

affordable and workforce housing, City of Cortez Land Use Code 

WHEREAS, Housing costs have been rising rapidly in the City of Cortez; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Cortez wishes to promote housing for all residents; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Land Use Code currently lacks a definition of affordable housing and 
workforces housing; and 

WHEREAS, the Code currently allows multi-family developments at a density of 3,000 sq. ft. 
per multi-family unit in the R-2, M-H and NB zones; and 

WHEREAS, the City desires to encourage more affordable and workforce housing projects 
by allowing an increased density for qualifying development; and 

WHEREAS, at the September 6, 2022 Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, the Planning 
and Zoning Commission reviewed the revisions to the Code, as evidenced by the adoption of P&Z 
Resolution No. 7, Series 2022; and 

WHEREAS, based on the evidence and testimony presented at said meeting, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission recommends that Sections 2.02, 3.06, 3.09, 3.10 and 3.14 be amended as follows: 

2.02 Definitions 
Affordable housing.  To qualify as Affordable Housing, the housing must be affordable to a 
household with an income that is eighty (80) percent or lower than area median income of 
households of that size.  Housing developed or co-developed by non-profit or 
governmental/quasi-governmental organizations whose mission or intent is to provide affordable 
and/or workforce housing will meet this definition.  Non-profits and governmental organizations 
that do not intend to hold the property for at least 20 years and for-profit developers will be 
required to provide assurances that the housing is and will remain affordable for at least 20 years.   

Workforce Housing:  To qualify as Workforce Housing, the housing must be affordable to a 
household with an income of between eighty (80) percent and one hundred and forty (140) 



percent of the area median income for households of that size.  Housing developed or co-
developed by non-profit or governmental/quasi-governmental organizations whose mission or 
intent is to provide affordable and/or workforce housing will meet this definition.  Non-profits 
and governmental organizations that do not intend to hold the property for at least 20 years and 
for-profit developers will be required to provide assurances that the housing is and will remain 
affordable for at least 20 years.  

3.09 R-2, residential multi-family district 

(f) Minimum Lot Area. The minimum lot area per dwelling unit in the R-2, residential multi-
family district shall be as follows, subject to Section 3.06(c) of this chapter:

(1) Six thousand (6,000) square feet per single-family dwelling unit;

(2) Three thousand five hundred (3,500) square feet per duplex unit.

(3) Three thousand (3,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit; and

(4) Two thousand (2,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit for affordable and 
workforce housing.  Where affordable and workforce housing projects are mixed with market 
rate projects the density will be pro-rated based on the percent of affordable versus market 
units.  For example, a project proposing 10 affordable units and 10 market rate units would 
achieve an overall density of 2,500 sq. ft. per unit. 

3.09 M-H, Residential manufactured home district. 

(f) Minimum Lot Area. The minimum lot area per dwelling unit in the M-H residential 
manufactured home district shall be as follows, subject to Section 3.06(c) of this chapter:

(1) Six thousand (6,000) square feet per single-family and manufactured home dwelling unit;

(2) Three thousand five hundred (3,500) square feet per duplex unit.

(3) Three thousand (3,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit; and

(4) Two thousand (2,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit for affordable and 
workforce housing.  Where affordable and workforce housing projects are mixed with market 
rate projects the density will be pro-rated based on the percent of affordable versus market 
units.  For example, a project proposing 10 affordable units and 10 market rate units would 
achieve an overall density of 2,500 sq. ft. per unit. 

3.09  NB neighborhood business district. 

https://library.municode.com/co/cortez/codes/land_use?nodeId=LAND_USE_CODE_CH3ZODIRE_3.06ARRE
https://library.municode.com/co/cortez/codes/land_use?nodeId=LAND_USE_CODE_CH3ZODIRE_3.06ARRE


(f) Minimum Lot Area. The minimum lot area per dwelling unit in the NB
neighborhood business district shall be as follows, subject to Section 3.06(c) of this
chapter:

(1) Six thousand (6,000) square feet per single-family and manufactured home dwelling unit;

(2) Three thousand five hundred (3,500) square feet per duplex unit.

(3) Three thousand (3,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit; and

(4) Two thousand (2,000) square feet per multi-family dwelling unit for affordable and
workforce housing.  Where affordable and workforce housing projects are mixed with market
rate projects the density will be pro-rated based on the percent of affordable versus market
units.  For example, a project proposing 10 affordable units and 10 market rate units would
achieve an overall density of 2,500 sq. ft. per unit.
NOW, THERFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF CORTEZ PLANNING AND ZONING
COMMISSION:

THAT, P&Z Resolution No. 7, Series 2022, recommends to the City Council of the City 
of Cortez amend the Cortez Land Use Code Sections 2.02 Definitions and 3.06 Residential Area 
Regulations, 3.09 R-2 residential multi-family district, 3.10 MH, residential manufactured home 
district, and 3.13 NB, neighborhood business district to create definitions for Affordable and 
Workforce housing and increase density in the R-2, M-H and NB zones for affordable and workforce 
housing. 

MOVED, SECONDED, AND ADOPTED THIS 6th DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2022 

CORTEZ PLANNING AND ZONING 
COMMISSION 

___________________________________ 
Robert Rime, Chairman ATTEST: 

_______________________________ 
Cheryl Lindquist, Deputy City Clerk 

https://library.municode.com/co/cortez/codes/land_use?nodeId=LAND_USE_CODE_CH3ZODIRE_3.06ARRE

	Agenda
	2.a. Minutes of September 27, 2022
	       ATT_Worksession Minutes for September 27, 2022
	       ATT_Agenda Minutes for September 27, 2022
	2.b. Expenditure List
	       ATT_Expenditure List
	100722 Expenditure List
	093022 Expenditure List.pdf
	093022 Expenditure List


	2.c. Retail Marijuana Cultivation
	       ATT_Herbal Cultivation Renewal
	2.d. Renewal- Purple Sage
	       ATT_Renewal- Purple Sage
	2.e. Renewal- Zu Gallery
	       ATT_Renewal- Zu Gallery
	2.f. Blondies Change of Premise
	       ATT_Change of Premise Memo
	       ATT_Blondies- Drawings
	4.a. Donation to MCHS Girls and Boys Golf Team
	4.b. City Debt
	5.a. Second Reading for an Ordinance Amendment- Classic Air Medical
	       ATT_Airport Memo
	       ATT_Ordinance No. 1312
	7.a. Award of 2022 Jury Room Addition
	       ATT_2022 Jury Room Addition
	7.b. Ordinance No. 1305 Food Truck/Mobile Vender
	       ATT_Ordinance No. 1305
	       ATT_Food Truck Information
	7.c. Ordinance 1311, Series 2022, Affordable Housing
	       ATT_Ordinance No. 1311
	       ATT_PandZ Resolution 7, Series 2022, Affordable Housing
	CC Affordable Housing
	pc memo 0802 - affordable bonus
	Affordable Housing
	Analysis - Current Housing Complexes with unit land density (1)
	Sheet1

	code amendments revised
	map Multi-Family density change in R2,NB and NB Zones (3)
	PC resolution affordable and workforce housing
	1. 21-Root-Regional-Housing
	2. Center Housing Report_Final_July29
	3. Del Norte Housing Report_Final_July27






